
CYNGOR BWRDEISTREF SIROL
RHONDDA CYNON TAF

COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

COMMITTEE SUMMONS

C Hanagan
Service Director of Democratic Services & Communication
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council
The Pavilions
Cambrian Park
Clydach Vale CF40 2XX

Meeting Contact: Jess Daniel -  Council Business Unit, Democratic Services (07385401877) 

A virtual meeting of the PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE will be held 
on THURSDAY, 29TH APRIL, 2021 at 3.00 PM.

NON-COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC MAY REQUEST THE 
FACILITY TO ADDRESS THE COMMITTEE AT THEIR MEETING ON THE BUSINESS 
LISTED. IT IS KINDLY ASKED THAT SUCH NOTIFICATION IS MADE TO 
PLANNINGSERVICES@RCTCBC.GOV.UK BY 5PM ON TUESDAY, 27 APRIL 2021, 
INCLUDING STIPULATING WHETHER THE ADDRESS WILL BE IN WELSH OR 
ENGLISH. 

THE ORDER OF THE AGENDA MAY BE SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT TO BEST 
FACILITATE THE BUSINESS OF THE COMMITTEE

AGENDA

1. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
To receive disclosures of personal interest from Members in accordance 
with the Code of Conduct.

Note:
1. Members are requested to identify the item number and subject 

matter that their interest relates to and signify the nature of the 
personal interest; and

2. Where Members withdraw from a meeting as a consequence of 
the disclosure of a prejudicial interest they must  notify the 
Chairman when they leave.

2. HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
DECISIONS 
To note, that when Committee Members determine the development 

mailto:Planningservices@rhondda-cynon-taff.gov.uk


control matters before them, they should have regard to the 
Development Plan and, so far as material to applications, to any other 
material considerations and when taking decisions, Members have to 
ensure they do not act in a manner that is incompatible with the 
Convention on Human Rights as incorporated into legislation by the 
Human Rights Act 1998.

3. WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015 
To note that the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
imposes a duty on public bodies to carry out sustainable development in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle and to act in a 
manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 
needs.

4. MINUTES 
To approve as an accurate record, the minutes of the meetings of the 
Planning and Development Committee held on 4th March 2021 and 11th 
March 2021. 

5 - 12
APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL BY THE DIRECTOR 
OF PROSPERITY & DEVELOPMENT 

5. APPLICATION NO: 19/1081 
Reserved Matters application for Phase 2 of Parc Llanilid Llanilid 
(10/0845/34) to include 421no. residential units and associated 
infrastructure.  Amended plans and/or additional information received 
07/12/20, 15/01/21, 18/02/21 and 31/03/21 (Revised description of 
development 14/01/21 and 31/03/21),
Land at former Open Cast Coal Site and land to the North of the 
A473, Llanilid

13 - 36
6. APPLICATION NO: 20/1342 

11 affordable dwellings and associated works. Revised site layout plan 
(repositioned bin store and shared amenity space) and additional 
section/elevation drawings re plot 6, received 9th March 2021, 
Former Miskin Primary School, School Road, Miskin, Pontyclun

37 - 58
7. APPLICATION NO: 20/1345 

Variation of condition 7 (sales of goods) of planning permission 
98/4284/15, Ffordd Tirwaun, Cwmbach, Aberdare

59 - 74
8. APPLICATION NO: 20/1346 

Variation of condition 1 approved plans of planning permission 



18/0366/39, Tirfounder Fields, Cwmbach
75 - 92

9. APPLICATION NO: 21/0258 
Proposed first floor rear extension, 
62 Albany Street, Ferndale

93 - 98
INFORMATION REPORT 

10. INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS, PERTAINING TO ACTION TAKEN 
UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 
To inform Members of the following, for the period 05/04/2021 – 
16/04//2021

Planning and Enforcement Appeals Decisions Received 
Delegated Decisions Approvals and Refusals with reasons.

99 - 112
11. URGENT BUSINESS 

To consider any items which the Chairman by reason of special 
circumstances is of the opinion should be considered at the Meeting as 
a matter of urgency.

Service Director of Democratic Services & Communication

Circulation:-

Members of the Planning & Development Committee

The Chair and Vice-Chair of the Planning & Development Committee
(County Borough Councillor S Rees and County Borough Councillor G Caple respectively)

County Borough Councillors: Councillor J Bonetto, Councillor P Jarman, 
Councillor D Grehan, Councillor G Hughes, Councillor J Williams, Councillor W Owen, 
Councillor R Yeo, Councillor D Williams and Councillor S Powderhill

Service Director of Democratic Services & Communication
Director of Prosperity & Development
Head of Major Development and Investment
Head of Planning
Head of Legal Services
Senior Engineer



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNCIL PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

Minutes of the virtual meeting of the Planning and Development Committee held on Thursday, 4 
March 2021 at 3.00 pm. 

 
County Borough Councillors - Planning and Development Committee Members in 

attendance:- 
 

Councillor S Rees (Chair) 
 

Councillor G Caple Councillor J Bonetto 
Councillor P Jarman Councillor D Grehan 
Councillor G Hughes Councillor J Williams 

Councillor W Owen Councillor R Yeo 
Councillor S Powderhill  

 
Officers in attendance:- 

 
Mr C Hanagan, Service Director of Democratic Services & Communication 

Mr S Gale, Director of Prosperity & Development 
Mr C Jones, Head of Major Development and Investment 

Mr S Humphreys, Head of Legal Services 
Mr A Rees, Senior Engineer 

 
County Borough Councillors in attendance:- 

 
Councillor R Bevan, Councillor K Morgan, Councillor G Thomas, Councillor R Lewis, 

Councillor A Morgan and Councillor S Bradwick. 
 

121   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

 An apology for absence was received from County Borough Councillor D 
Williams. 
 

 

122   DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 

 

 In accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, County Borough Councillor R 
Yeo declared a personal interest in respect of application 20/0986 - Construction 
and use of a stack with associated pipework and a continuous emissions 
monitoring systems gantry with ladder access, Fifth Avenue, Hirwaun Industrial 
Estate, Hirwaun 
 
“My employer has undertaken work to connect Hirwaun Enviroparks to the 
electricity grid. As such I have raised purchase orders for equipment to do so. 
However, as I work in Administration only, I am not in a decision-making role and 
have not dealt directly with anyone at the site or working in the company.” 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 

123   HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL DECISIONS  
 

 

 It was RESOLVED to note that when Committee Members determine the 
development control matters before them, they should have regard to the 
Development Plan and, so far as material to applications, to any other material 
considerations and when taking decisions, Members have to ensure they do 
not act in a manner that is incompatible with the convention on Human Rights 
as incorporated into legislation by the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

 

124   WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015  
 

 

 It was RESOLVED to note that the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015 imposes a duty on public bodies to carry out sustainable development 
in accordance with the sustainable development principle and to act in a 
manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 
 

 

125   APPLICATION NO: 20/0986  
 

 

 Construction and use of a stack with associated pipework and a 
continuous emissions monitoring systems gantry with ladder access, Fifth 
Avenue, Hirwaun Industrial Estate, Hirwaun 
 
In accordance with adopted procedures, the Committee received the following 
public speakers who were afforded five minutes to address Members on the 
above-mentioned proposal: 
 

• Mr Karl Craddick (Agent) 
• Ms Vikki Howells MS (Objector) 
• Ms Beth Winter MP (Objector) 
• Mrs Mara Wakefield (Objector) 
• Mrs Tracy Sweetland-Hodges (Objector) 
• Mrs Clare Rees (Objector) 
• Mrs Barbara Melksham (Objector) 
• Mrs Diane Pope (Objector) 
• Mrs Cari Rees (Objector) 
• Mr Richard Jones (Objector)  

 
The Head of Major Development and Investment read out the contents of three 
written submissions from the following: 
 

• Dr Kevin Thomas (Objector) 
• Mr David Pritchard (Objector) 
• Mr Roy Noble (Objector) 

 
The Applicant Mr David Williams exercised the right to respond to the comments 
made by the objectors. 
 
Non-Committee/ Local Members – County Borough Councillors G Thomas and 
K Morgan spoke on the application and put forward their objections in respect of 
the proposed Development. 
 
The Head of Major Development and Investment provided Members with an 

 

Page 6



 

update on the number of objections received to date in comparison to the 
number provided in the original report.  
 
He also informed members there were no further implications to consider in 
respect of the recently published Future Wales 2040 Framework and Planning 
Policy Wales 11. 
 
The Head of Major Development and Investment continued by showing 
Members drone footage of the site and then proceeded to give Members a  
presentation on the application.  
 
Following lengthy discussion Members were minded to refuse the above-
mentioned application contrary to the recommendation of the Director, Prosperity 
& Development as Members were of the view that the application would be an 
incongruous and inappropriate development which would have an adverse, 
detrimental and unacceptable visual impact on the landscape and compromise 
the visual amenity. Therefore, the matter would be deferred to the next 
appropriate meeting of the Planning & Development Committee for a report of 
the Director, Prosperity & Development, if necessary in consultation with the 
Director, Legal Services, highlighting the potential strengths and weaknesses of 
making a decision contrary to the recommendation of an officer or any proposed 
or possible planning reason for such a decision prior to determining a matter. 
 
(Note: County Borough Councillor J Williams wished to have recorded that she 
voted in favour of the motion to refuse the above-mentioned application) 
 
 
 

 
This meeting closed at 5.15 pm CLLR S REES 

CHAIR. 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNCIL PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

Minutes of the virtual meeting of the Planning and Development Committee held on Thursday, 11 
March 2021 at 3.00 pm  

 
County Borough Councillors - Planning and Development Committee Members in 

attendance:- 
 

Councillor S Rees (Chair) 
 

Councillor G Caple Councillor J Bonetto 
Councillor P Jarman Councillor D Grehan 
Councillor G Hughes Councillor J Williams 

Councillor W Owen Councillor R Yeo 
Councillor D Williams Councillor S Powderhill 

 
Officers in attendance:- 

 
Mr S Gale, Director of Prosperity & Development 

Mr J Bailey, Head of Planning 
Mr S Humphreys, Head of Legal Services 

Mr A Rees, Senior Engineer 
 

County Borough Councillors in attendance:- 
 

Councillor R Bevan, Councillor A Cox and Councillor G Thomas 
 

126   DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 

 

 In accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, there were no declarations 
made pertaining to the agenda. 
 

 

127   HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL DECISIONS  
 

 

 It was RESOLVED to note that when Committee Members determine the 
development control matters before them, they should have regard to the 
Development Plan and, so far as material to applications, to any other material 
considerations and when taking decisions, Members have to ensure they do 
not act in a manner that is incompatible with the convention on Human Rights 
as incorporated into legislation by the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

 

128   WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015  
 

 

 It was RESOLVED to note that the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015 imposes a duty on public bodies to carry out sustainable development 
in accordance with the sustainable development principle and to act in a 
manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 
 

 

129   MINUTES   

Page 9



 

 
 It was RESOLVED to approve as an accurate record, the minutes of the meeting 

of the Planning and Development Committee held on the 21st January 2021.  
 

 

130   APPLICATION NO: 20/1004  
 

 

 Construction of new single storey Transport Hub with link to overhead 
railway bridge, including the development of a new 7 bay bus station and 
apron. PORTH STREET, PORTH, CF39 9RR. 
 
Non-Committee/ Local Member – County Borough Councillor A Cox spoke on 
the application outlining some concerns in regard of details of the application 
contained in the report although overall he was in support of the proposed 
Development.  
 
The Head of Planning presented the application to Committee and following 
consideration it was RESOLVED to approve the application in accordance with 
the recommendation of the Director, Prosperity and Development subject to the 
conditions outlined in the report.  
 

 

131   APPLICATION NO: 20/1082  
 

 

 Redevelopment of Co-op Store site to provide a purpose-built store and 
improved car park. THE CO OPERATIVE FOOD, 30 CARDIFF ROAD, TAFFS 
WELL, CARDIFF, CF15 7RF. 
 
The Head of Planning presented the application to Committee and following 
consideration it was RESOLVED to approve the application in accordance with 
the recommendation of the Director, Prosperity and Development subject to the 
conditions set out in the report.  
 

 

132   APPLICATION NO: 20/1176  
 

 

 Conversion of original tollgate house to garage, demolition of all 
outbuildings and erection of new replacement detached house. 
MAESGLAS FARM, RHIGOS ROAD, HIRWAUN, ABERDARE, CF44 9UD. 
 
Non-Committee/ Local Member – County Borough Councillor G Thomas spoke 
on the application and put forward his support in respect of the proposed 
Development. 
 
The Head of Planning presented the application to Committee and following 
consideration it was RESOLVED to approve the application in accordance with 
the recommendation of the Director, Prosperity and Development subject to the 
conditions outlined in the report.  
 

 

133   APPLICATION NO: 20/1243  
 

 

 Proposed conversion of attached barn to form 2 no. Air B&B (Bed and 
Breakfast) units of accommodation and associated alterations (Amended 
description 07/12/20). GWRANGON ISAF FARM, CWM ISAAC, RHIGOS, 
ABERDARE, CF44 9AX. 
 
Non-Committee/ Local Member – County Borough Councillor G Thomas spoke 
on the application and outlined some concerns in respect of the proposed 

 

Page 10



 

Development. 
 
The Head of Planning presented the application to Committee and following 
consideration it was RESOLVED to approve the application in accordance with 
the recommendation of the Director, Prosperity and Development subject to the 
conditions set out in the report.  
 

134   INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS, PERTAINING TO ACTION TAKEN UNDER 
DELEGATED POWERS  
 

 

 Members RESOLVED to receive the report of the Service Director, Planning in 
relation to Planning and Enforcement Appeal Decisions received, Delegated 
Decisions Approvals and Refusals with reasons, Overview of Enforcement 
Cases and Enforcement Delegated Decisions received for the period 15/02/2021 
– 26/02//202. 
 

 

 
This meeting closed at 4.20 pm CLLR S REES 

CHAIR. 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

29 APRIL 2021

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PROSPERITY AND DEVELOPMENT

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

Members are asked to determine the submission of reserved matters application 
outlined below:

APPLICATION NO: 19/1081/16             (DJB)
APPLICANT: Persimmon Homes West Wales
DEVELOPMENT: Reserved Matters application for Phase 2 of Parc Llanilid 

Llanilid (10/0845/34) to include 421no. residential units 
and associated infrastructure.  Amended plans and/or 
additional information received 07/12/20, 15/01/21, 
18/02/21 and 31/03/21 (Revised description of 
development 14/01/21 and 31/03/21)

LOCATION: LAND AT FORMER OPEN CAST COAL SITE  AND 
LAND TO THE NORTH OF THE A473, LLANILID

DATE REGISTERED: 04/12/2019
ELECTORAL DIVISION: Brynna

RECOMMENDATION: Approve

REASONS: The application site constitutes part of one of the Council’s 
Strategic Sites (Policy SSA9 refers) as identified in the Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Local Development Plan. This scheme represents the second (Phase 2) 
submission of reserved matters pursuant to the outline element of the ‘hybrid’ 
permission granted for up to 1850 new dwellings across the Llanilid site.

The principle of the development of this site for residential purposes was 
accepted by the Council in the granting of the hybrid application 10/0845 in 
January 2016.

The proposed scheme will deliver 421no. modern, high quality new homes in 
an area of high demand. 

The proposal is considered to comply with the relevant policies of the Council’s 
LDP as well as national planning policy and guidance.

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



REASON APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE

The application seeks reserved matters approval for 10 or more dwellings and 
therefore is for a scale of development for which powers are not delegated to the 
Director of Prosperity and Development. 

APPLICATION DETAILS

Wider Context and Background to the Application

In 2010 an application (10/0845) was submitted to the Council for a far larger area 
than the area covered by this ‘second phase’ of reserved matters. That ‘hybrid’ 
planning application sought a combination of both outline and full planning permission 
for a large scale development on a site which incorporates part of the former Llanilid 
Open Cast Coal Site (OCCS), together with land to the north of the A473.  The whole 
10/0845 site has an area of 75.35 hectares, of which approximately 50 hectares is 
considered to be developable. 

The first phase (Phase 1 – 18/0334) reserved matters submission, for 216no. new 
housing units was approved by a meeting of this Committee on 21 March 2019. Site 
construction works on that first phase of the development are currently well underway.  

The current reserved matters application represents the second submission (Phase 2) 
of reserved matters pursuant to the granting of application 10/0845. 

In total it is anticipated that the whole site will be developed in 8 residential phases. In 
line with condition 21, as imposed on 10/0845, a revised phasing plan was submitted 
and approved as part of the 18/0334 submission made in respect of Phase 1. This 
current Phase 2 submission locationally accords with that plan in terms of the 
development progression of the overall site.

The current application

This application seeks reserved matters (access, appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale) approval for a scheme of 421no. new dwellings together with associated 
infrastructure. 

Members are advised that when initially received the submission proposed a layout of 
462no. units. However, as a consequence of issues that became evident through the 
planning consultation and assessment process there was the need to reduce the 
number of units in order to mitigate any potentially adverse impacts, these being 
primarily the potential to impact on interests of ecology and biodiversity. Accordingly, 
the scheme layout was amended, reducing the number of properties from 462no. to 
initially 422no. and to now 421no.  

Within the 421no. units the proposed scheme proposes a mix of housing types – 1 
bed apartments to terraced, semi and detached 2, 3, 4 and 5 bed properties, 
comprising:

 262no. open mix Persimmon house types (spread across 10 different house 
type styles/designs of 2 bed (66 units), 3 bed (151 units) and 4 bed (45 units) 
size);

Page 14



 116no. open mix Charles Church house types (spread across 5 different house 
type styles/designs of 4 bed (88 units) and 5 bed (28 units) size); and,

 43no. Affordable Housing house types (spread across 4 different unit types – 
proving 1bed (18 units), 2 bed (4 units), 3 bed (11 units) and 4 bed (10 units) 
accommodation)

SITE APPRAISAL

The site the subject of this submission of reserved matters lies entirely within the much 
larger site, which was subject to a hybrid application 10/0845 (part full/part outline) 
approval in January 2016. The site identified by this current submission of reserved 
matters comprises brown field land on the southern side of the A473 and lies at the 
eastern end of the wider site defined by the 10/0845 permission. 

The whole of the wider 10/0845 site had an area of just over 75 hectares (185 acres). 
The area of the site defined by this reserved matters submission amounts to 16.26ha 
(40.2 acres), with a net developable area of 10.89 hectares (26.91 acres). 

The required engineering works to establish the development plateau areas within the 
Phase 2 site were approved as part of the 10/0845 hybrid approval, as those works 
were included within the full permission element of that consent. Works to create those 
plateau areas in preparation for development, together with works of ecological 
mitigation which have been/are being undertaken concurrently are clearly evident on 
the site.

Finished floor levels (FFLs) of the properties at the northern extent of the phase range 
from approx. 60m AOD (on the western side) up to 66.5m AOD (plot 383) in the north 
eastern corner of the site. Along the southern extent of the phase FFLs are similarly 
approx.. 60m AOD to the western boundary, whilst the slope across the site to the 
eastern boundary is slightly more evident than in the northern part of the site, with 
properties along the eastern boundary generally having FFLs within the 75-76m AOD 
range (plot 62 – 76.15m AOD).  

The entire site lies on the southern side of the A473 to the eastern extent of the wider 
Llanilid outline permission (10/0845) site. Adjacent to the eastern boundary of the site 
lie the relatively recently completed residential developments of Lonydd Glas and Dol 
Saint Ilid/St. Ilids Meadow. At the north eastern corner the site adjoins the rear 
boundaries of properties that stand within the Ffordd Dol Y Coed development.

Vehicular access to the development will be achieved via an extended Ffordd 
Fenter/Enterprise Way, the current extent of which terminates at the western end of  
it’s east-west alignment which separates the Lonydd Glas and Dol Saint Ilid/ St. Ilid 
Meadows developments to the eastern boundary of the application site. 

The layout proposed by this submission of reserved matters confirms that it is not 
intended that the  development of new housing units will take place right up to the site 
boundary and thereby adjoin the boundaries of properties within Lonydd Glas and Dol 
Saint Ilid/St. Ilids Meadow (to the east) and Ffordd Dol Y Coed (to the north/north east).

Page 15



Green habitat corridors surround the housing along the eastern, western and northern 
boundaries. To the south this phase adjoins the anticipated route of the Llanharan 
bypass road.

PLANNING HISTORY 

The planning history below refers to only the main permissions/approvals (including 
and following the full/outline hybrid permission 10/0845) granted and does not include 
every specific discharge of condition submission etc. that has been made across the 
whole wider site. 

Reserved matters submissions (pursuant to 10/0845) have also been made in respect 
of the subsequent phases of development, as follows (these applications currently 
remain under assessment and have yet to be reported to Committee for Members 
consideration and determination):

 19/1082: Phases 3 and 4 

 19/1200: Phases 5/6/7/8 

 19/1258: New primary school 

 19/1299: Village centre 

In addition a number of discharge of condition (as imposed on 10/0845) applications, 
relevant to Phase 2, have been submitted and are currently under consideration:

 21/0091: Conditions 8 (spine road details) and 15 (drainage)

 21/0164: Condition 7 (Construction Method Statement/Management Plan)

 21/0174: Conditions 10, 12 and 13 (Great Crested Newt Mitigation)

 21/0372: Condition 33 (Travel Plan)

 21/0533 Condition 22 (Construction Method Statement)

18/0334 (Phase 1) Reserved matters for 216no. 
new residential units.

Cond. Perm., subject to a 
S.106 Deed of Variation  
24/04/19    
      

10/0845 Comprehensive development  
comprising residential development of 
up to 1850 dwellings; neighbourhood 
centre to include Class D1 and D2 
community/leisure facilities, Class D1 
medical centre, Class D1 primary 
school, Class A1, A2 and A3 
retail/services/food and drink 
floorspace; Class B1 office/commercial 

Cond Perm, subject to a 
S.106
28/01/16

Page 16



floorspace; new drainage services, 
transport and highways infrastructure, 
strategic landscape areas and public 
open space.

                          
PUBLICITY

The application has been advertised by means of direct neighbour notification letters, 
site notices and the insertion of a press notice.  

In response two letters/emails have been received. 
 The writer of the first neither supports, nor objects to the application but raises 

comments on the presence and sighting of bats from her property, which backs 
onto the former open cast site, flying in and out of gardens and surrounding tree 
and hedge lines. In addition, the writer does query the seeming unauthorised 
‘land garb’ by some households in Dol Saint Ilid/St. Ilids Meadow, who appear 
to have extended their rear gardens into land, which would fall within the site 
and green/newt corridor;

 The writer of the second, again indicates neither support for or objection to the 
application but makes comment on the potential for additional traffic; the 
provision of additional school and medical practice capacity; and, the need to 
protect wildlife and existing resident amenity within the green buffer zone 
between existing properties and the new development.

CONSULTATION 

Transportation Section – Initially highway objections were raised to the application. 
However, following the receipt of revised plans it is now confirmed (in further 
observations dated 16/04/21) that no objections are raised to the proposed 
development, subject to conditions.

Within their consultation response the Transportation Section make comments are 
made in respect of issues of:

 Site location and the application red line boundary;
 Internal estate roads;
 Levels of parking provision;
 Phasing Plan;
 Travel Plans and Safe Routes in Communities; and,
 Commuted Sums.

It is also noted that the Highway Authority will require the Developer to enter into legally 
binding agreements (S38 and S278 of Highways Act 1980) to secure the proper design 
and implementation of the proposed works to the existing highway and the internal 
roads, footways and highway drainage including an appropriate bond. In addition, the 
Highway Authority will require the developer to undertake Statutory Consultations in 
respect of any Traffic Orders associated with the proposed development including the 
implementation of such orders granted.

Page 17



Natural Resources Wales (NRW)  – whilst no objection is raised to the application, 
NRW do indicate that they have significant concerns with the proposed development 
and that the LPA should only grant planning permission* if they include reference to 
the relevant submitted landscape planting and landscape strategy plans/documents 
within a condition identifying the approved plans and documents on the decision 
notice. 
(Note: for clarity, Members are advised that this application seeks the approval of 
reserved matters, pursuant to the outline planning permission (10/0845) which has 
previously been granted).

Health & Safety Executive (HSE) – the proposed development lies within the 
consultation distance of a high-pressure natural gas pipeline (ref. 1556: 
Nantgarw/Brynna (VS014) – which is currently operated by Wales & West Utilities.

On 15 October 2019 the LPA sought advice from HSE via their Advice Web App and 
received the response that ‘HSE’s advice is that there are sufficient reasons, on safety 
grounds, for advising against the granting of planning permission in this case’ (HSE 
response ref: 191015094222-323, dated 15 October 2019).

However, in their subsequent letter dated 26 February 2020 HSE have confirmed that 
they are aware that that this pipeline was laid in thick-walled pipe in the vicinity of the 
proposed development site. As a result of the additional protection which the thick-
walled pipe provides, the consultation distances which apply in this area are smaller 
than those which apply to the rest of the pipeline. However, reduced consultation 
zones associated with thick-walled sections of pipeline are not currently included in 
the HSE Planning Advice Web App, so HSE’s original (15/10/19) advice was 
determined using the consultation zone distances which apply to the full length of the 
pipeline.

The reduced consultation zone distances which apply have now been taken into 
account in reconsidering HSE’s advice. Consequently, HSE does not advise, on 
safety grounds, against the granting of planning permission.

Dwr Cymru/Welsh Water – raise no objection to the application, subject to the 
imposition of conditions.

The domestic foul flows proposed by this development can be accommodated within 
the public sewerage system via the dedicated 500mm combined sewer at manhole 
SS97818801, as indicated on the extract of public sewer records. This connection 
point has been identified as an appropriate location to prevent hydraulic overloading 
of the public sewerage system, to protect the health and safety of existing residents 
and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment.

Notwithstanding the above, please note the applicant has not gained approval under 
Section 104 of the Water Industry Act 1991 for the full development of Phase 2 (in 
relation to the adoption of new sewers to serve the site), and therefore amendments 
may be required through this process. The applicant will be responsible for notifying 
the Local Planning Authority of any amendments made through this process.

Investigations have previously been undertaken in relation to the capacity to provide 

Page 18



a potable water supply to this development. Any increased demand on the local 
system would adversely affect our service to existing and future customers and as a 
consequence reinforcement works to the system, which shall be secured and 
implemented via appropriate planning conditions set out below, are required in 
advance of the first occupation at the site. 

Public Health & Protection – raise no objections to the application. Comments are 
made in respect of issues of noise, air quality, contaminated land, dust, disposal of 
waste and lighting.  

Countryside Section (Landscape & Ecology) – initially concerns were raised in 
respect of both the form and extent of ecological mitigation and also the nature of the 
proposed landscaping within the phase. However, following the revisions made during 
the course of the application it is considered that the landscape details are more 
ecologically sympathetic and no objections have been raised.   

Flood Risk Management Section (Drainage) – raise no objections to the 
application.

The Coal Authority – initially (dated 05/11/19) raised an objection to the application 
on the basis that the application submission contained no information to confirm that 
that the proposed built development layout has been designed to avoid the position of 
the high wall of the previous opencast operation (The Coal Authority did indicate, 
however that if the applicant is able to provide information to demonstrate that the 
buildings would avoid the high wall then they would be in a position to withdraw the 
objection and that any coal mining legacy issues could be dealt with as part of a 
subsequent discharge of condition application).  

Subsequently, following re-consultation a further response (dated 17/12/20) 
maintained the objection on the basis that the concern/s raised in The Coal Authority 
letter of 05/11/19 had not been satisfactorily addressed. This view was again re-
iterated in a further response of 20 January 2021.

Following the submission of additional supporting information (dated 18/02/21 and 
prepared by Integral Geotechnique) by the applicant further re-consultation was 
undertaken with The Coal Authority and in their response of 22/02/21 The Coal 
Authority notes the further submitted information in the form of the letter (dated 18 
February 2021) from Integral Geotechnique Ltd and the appended layout drawing, 
which shows 6 of the 84 plots potentially being affected by the line of the high wall. 
Having considered this information, it would appear that all efforts have been taken to 
avoid the high wall. Consequently, and on the basis that the discharge of condition 9 
on the hybrid planning permission will ensure that the plots affected incorporate 
appropriate mitigatory measures to afford their stability, the Coal Authority 
withdraws its objection to this planning application and we look forward to being 
consulted on that application in due course.

Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust Ltd – raise no objections to the 
application. 

Page 19



(Note: Comment is made in respect of the previously required archaeological work in 
respect of the Phase 1 works (18/0334) and condition 37 of the hybrid permission 
10/0845. However, condition 37 only relates to land to the north of the A473. The 
entirety of the Phase 2 site lies to the south of the A473). 

Western Power Distribution – raise no objection. Request that the applicant is 
advised that if they require a new connection or a service alteration, they will need to 
make a separate application to WPD.

Wales & West Utilities – raise no objection. Provide information as to the location 
of existing W&WU apparatus and advise that the applicant contact them prior to any 
works commencing.

South Wales Police (Designing Out Crime Officer) – raises no objection to the 
application. Further comment indicates satisfaction with the proposed layout, with all 
vehicle parking bays within curtilage and/or overlooked. In addition advice is offered 
in respect of issues of lighting, boundary identification, landscaping/planting, vehicle 
parking, garage security, bin and cycle stores, window/door security and intruder alarm 
systems.

(Note: a full copy of the comments received has been provided to the applicant for 
their information/action) 

Bridgend County Borough Council (adjoining LPA) – have no objections to the 
application. 

POLICY CONTEXT 

Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan

Policy CS2 – confirms that in respect of development in the Southern Strategy Area 
the emphasis will be on sustainable growth that benefits the County Borough as a 
whole.  Key criteria that will be considered in seeking to achieve this aim are identified.

Policy CS3 - in order to promote sustainable growth this policy allocates a number of 
specific ‘Strategic Sites’ across the County Borough for the development of a mixture 
of large scale residential, employment, retail and recreational purposes  (Former OCC 
Site, Llanilid, Llanharan is identified as site no. 8 (Policy SSA9)). 

Policy CS4 – sets down the requirement for the development of new dwellings within 
the County Borough during the LDP plan period.  Of the 5,000-5,450 units identified 
to be provided across the Strategic Sites the Llanilid site should provide 1,950-2,100.
(Note for Members: 248 dwellings have already been approved, as ‘enabling 
development’, on a different part of the Llanilid site under ref: 06/1485 (outline) and 
ref: 07/2152 (reserved matters). Hence the reason that the hybrid (part outline/part 
full) application sought to gain permission for the balance of 1,850 dwellings).

Page 20



Policy CS5 – confirms the need for the housing requirements identified in Policy CS4 
to contribute to the provision of affordable housing over the plan period.

Policy AW4 – confirms that the Council may seek planning obligation contributions in 
association with new development.  

Policy AW6 - supports development that promotes high quality design which makes a 
positive contribution to place making.  

Policy AW7 - seeks to protect and enhance the built environment.

Policy AW8 - seeks to protect and enhance the natural environment.

Policy AW10 – confirms that development will not be permitted where it would cause 
or result in an unacceptable risk of harm to health and/or local amenity (identified 
issues include air pollution, light pollution, noise pollution, water pollution, 
contamination, landfill gas, land instability and flooding or any other identified risk to 
the environment, local amenity and public health or safety).

Policy SSA6 - identifies criteria for new development in the key settlement of 
Llanharan.

(Supporting paragraph 6.125 states “Through the identified Strategic Site at Llanilid, 
which includes large-scale residential and commercial proposals, Llanharan will 
continue to experience significant new development.  The Council recognises that new 
development must be supported by appropriate local services and infrastructure in 
order to meet the needs of the existing and future community.”)

Policy SSA9 - allocates the site (as a Strategic Site, as identified under Policy CS3) 
for the residential development of between 1,950-2,100 dwellings, together with 
provision of 2500sq.m. (net) of retail floor space, a medical centre, library/community 
centre, a new primary school and associated public open space.  

Policy SSA11 – identifies the need for new residential development to achieve 
satisfactory levels of build density.  (Justification has to be provided for a build density 
of <35 dwellings per hectare).

Policy SSA12 – identifies the need for new developments of 5 dwellings or more to 
provide 20% affordable housing.

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)

Rhondda Cynon Taf LDP SPG – Design and Placemaking (March 2011)

Rhondda Cynon Taf LDP SPG – Delivering Design and Placemaking: Access, 
Circulation & Parking Requirements (March 2011)

Rhondda Cynon Taf LDP SPG – The Historic Built Environment (March 2011)

Rhondda Cynon Taf LDP SPG – Nature Conservation (March 2011)

Page 21



Rhondda Cynon Taf LDP SPG – Affordable Housing (March 2011)

Rhondda Cynon Taf LDP SPG – Planning Obligations (December 2014)

Rhondda Cynon Taf LDP SPG – Employment and Skills (June 2015)

National Guidance

In the determination of planning applications regard should also be given to the 
requirements of national planning policy which are not duplicated in the Local 
Development Plan, particularly where national planning policy provides a more up to 
date and comprehensive policy on certain topics. 

Planning Policy Wales Edition 11 (PPW) was issued on 24th February 2021 in 
conjunction with Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 (FW2040). 

PPW incorporates the objectives of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
into town and country planning and sets out Welsh Government’s (WG) policy on 
planning issues relevant to the determination of all planning applications. FW2040 sets 
out the National Development Framework for Wales (NDF), WGs current position on 
planning policy at regional and national level. 

It is considered that the proposed development is consistent with the key principles 
and requirements for placemaking set out in PPW; and is also consistent with the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act’s sustainable development principles through 
its contribution towards the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives of driving 
sustainable development and building healthier communities and better environments. 

It is also considered the proposed development is compliant with the NDF, with the 
following policies being relevant to the development proposed:

 Policy 1 – Where Wales will grow
 Policy 2 – Shaping Urban Growth 
 Policy 3 – Supporting Urban Growth
 Policy 7 – Delivering Affordable Homes
 Policy 9 - Resilient Ecological Networks and Green Infrastructure

Planning Policy Wales Technical Advice Notes (TANs):- 

TAN 2: Planning and Affordable Housing (2006)

TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)

TAN 12 Design (2016)

TAN 15: Development & Flood Risk (2004)

TAN 16: Sport, Recreation and Open Space (2009)

Page 22



TAN 18: Transportation (2007)

Government Circulars

Welsh Government Circular 016/2014: The use of Planning Conditions for 
Development Management

REASONS FOR REACHING THE RECOMMENDATION

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if 
regard is to be had to the development plan for purposes of any determination to be 
made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with 
the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Furthermore, applications that are not in accordance with relevant policies in the plan 
should not be allowed, unless material considerations justify the grant of planning 
permission.

Principle of the proposed development

This application is a submission of reserved matter details, which represent the second 
phase of residential development at the Llanilid site that benefits from an outline 
permission for up to 1850 new dwellings. 

It should be recognised that the principle of residential development has already been 
established, by the Council’s granting of the hybrid application 10/0845 in January 
2016. The consideration of this application relates to the details submitted pursuant to 
the outline element of that permission.

The reserved matters scheme proposed

The proposed development layout incorporates 421no. new dwellings. 

Plots 306 – 421 (116 units) will be Charles Church open mix house types, comprising 
5 different house type designs and all are 4 (88 units) or 5 (28 units) bed detached 
houses.

Plots 1 – 305 will be Persimmon house types, within which 43 plots (nos. 122-123, 
127-134, 146-149, 186-202, 203-206, 210-211, 240-242, 295-297) will comprise the 
units of affordable housing. The Persimmon house types comprise 2 bed (66 units), 3 
bed (151 units) and 4 bed (45 units) within detached, semi-detached and link style 
house type designs.

In respect of external finishes the proposed dwellings across the development will 
incorporate the use of ‘Hovingham, Sherborne or Cusworth Riven’ Persimmon brick 
and slate/natural natural colour ‘Forticrete Pentstone’ or grey reconstituted stonework 
and Marley Modern Duo smooth grey roof tiles.   

Page 23



A Local Equipped Area for Play (LEAP) is proposed within the green corridor that will 
run between Phase 2 and Phase 5 (which forms part of the phases 5/6/7/8 submission 
made under ref: 19/1200) and will be positioned just to the north of the primary internal 
distributor road, as confirmed on submitted Landscape Planting plan (Drwg. no. LA 
202 rev ’E’), to the west of the end of the cul-de-sac serving plots 306-311.

It is proposed that the delivery (including the timing of the delivery) of this LEAP facility 
be controlled through the imposition of a condition, as was the case with the LEAP 
within Phase 1 (18/0334). 

Condition 25, as imposed on 10/0845 requires an urban design statement to 
accompany each reserved matters submission and within the document demonstrate 
how the design complies with the DAS and Design Codes documents considered at 
the outline stage (10/0845). The submission package includes a document titled 
‘Urban Design Statement – Project: Phase 1, Parc Llanilid’ (Final Report March 2018). 

The Urban Design Statement submitted with this application has been appropriately 
updated (now rev ‘C’, March 2021) to reflect the revisions made to the scheme during 
the course of its assessment process.

The 2011 Design Codes document identified that the aspirations were to deliver clear 
design guidance for the planning of the Parc Llanilid scheme in order to achieve legible 
and coherent development within clearly defined parameters.

The main aims of the 2011 Design Code are:
• establish a clear framework for future development when implementing the vision   
for the site;
• be the starting point for dialogue and interaction between housing developers and 
the Council;
• illustrate what is anticipated in each of the identified character areas without 
prejudicing innovation and adapting to changing needs and available technologies;
• ensure coordination between each of the housing developers and character areas, 
providing a level of certainty as to the quality, legibility and character of adjacent 
development;
• provide a level of confidence between all parties engaged in this large urban 
extension;
• inspire housing developers to innovate and look for solutions towards delivery of an 
exemplary development.

The 2011 Design Code identified the area covered by the current reserved matters 
submission as comprising both ‘Middle Village’ and ‘Village Edge’ character areas. 
The Middle Village areas were identified, as the name would suggest, as delivering a 
more urban, tighter knit grain neighbourhood environment, with the use of key 
buildings at nodes and vistas, generally on the corners of perimeter blocks; whilst the 
Village Edge character area would deliver a medium and course grain development 
with a higher proportion of detached dwellings than the other character areas.

The area of the current reserved matters submission is identified in the 2011 Design 
Code as ‘Parcel 1’. 

Page 24



It is considered that the submitted Urban Design Statement is in broad compliance 
with the aims and objectives of the 2010 DAS and 2011 Design Code. However, it is 
acknowledged, as discussed in the ‘Highways/access/parking’ section of this report, 
below of the intended deviation away from some of the anticipated design features of 
the main distributor/spine road, running through the middle of Phase 2 that were 
anticipated in 2011.

It is considered that the proposed design and layout of Phase 2 complies with policies 
AW5 and AW6 of the LDP and the broad principles established under the outline 
element of permission 10/0845.

Highways/access/parking

As noted earlier in this report vehicular access to the development will be achieved via 
an extended Ffordd Fenter/Enterprise Way, the current extent of which terminates at 
the western end of  it’s east-west alignment which separates the Lonydd Glas and Dol 
Saint Ilid/ St. Ilid Meadows developments to the eastern boundary of the application 
site. 

The extended Ffordd Fenter/Enterprise Way will form one of the wider development 
primary main internal distributor/spine roads. Extending westwards through Phase 2 
and into Phase 5 this element of primary internal distributor road will meet a further 
element of primary road which will run (between phases 5 and 6), in roughly a north-
south alignment and will link the A473 at the top with the roundabout on the stretch of 
already constructed bypass (commonly referred to as ‘the dog-leg road), which runs 
adjacent to the southern boundary of phases 6 and 8.

The primary main internal distributor/spine road design previously approved as part of 
the 10/0845 ‘hybrid’ permission shows numerous parking bays, which would be 
appropriate to an active street frontage with dwellings fronting directly onto the road. 
However, it is considered that this would serve no purpose given the proposed housing 
layout with all dwellings served from side roads. Retention of the parking bays would 
not cater for parking due to the distance from dwellings and would result in an 
increased maintenance requirement for the Highway Authority. 
Accordingly, it is the intention of the applicant to make a further submission to amend 
the design of the main internal distributor/spine road design to reflect the wishes of the 
Highways Officer. With the omission of the parking bays then giving the opportunity to 
incorporate carriageway (incorporating features to constrain vehicle speeds) suitable 
for public transport vehicles, whilst at the same time utilising the space to provide 3m 
wide shared use paths to facilitate active travel journeys by pedestrians and cyclists 
throughout the whole development in accordance with the requirements of The Active 
Travel Wales Act and Planning Policy Wales 11 (PPW11).
Four secondary road junctions are to be created onto the primary internal 
distributor/spine road, within Phase 2. Two of these will serve the element (Persimmon 
and affordable housing provision units) to the south of the primary internal distributor 
road; whilst the other two will serve the housing element (Charles Church) to the north.
Highways have expressed some concern with regard the horizontal alignment of the 
proposed estate roads adjacent to several plots where short curved sections have 

Page 25



been incorporated. However, it is accepted that this can be mitigated as part of the 
detailed highway design process and accordingly the imposition of a condition 
requiring approval of full highway engineering design and detail is suggested.   
Temporary bin storage areas must be provided at shared accesses to accommodate 
refuse and recycling bins awaiting collection. Such areas must be positioned for 
convenient access from the highway and located to avoid obstruction of footways and 
private shared accesses. 
A Road Safety Audit relating only to the distributor/spine road has not yet been 
provided to demonstrate that the proposed road layout would not have a detrimental 
impact on highway safety. However, it is accepted that such requirement can be 
secured the imposition of a suitably worded condition.
The use of private drive arrangements is incorporated throughout the proposed layout. 

The Transportation Section has raised no objections, subject to the imposition of 
conditions, to these proposed access arrangements.

In respect of car parking provision across the scheme the maximum requirement as 
set out in the Council’s adopted SPG would be 1,164 spaces, whilst the minimum 
requirement would be 884 spaces. The proposed layout provides for 1,026 spaces. 
Parking provision for the larger 4 and 5 bed Charles Church detached houses to the 
north of the distributor/spine road is in accordance with the Council’ SPG maximum 
standard. The lesser provision ratio in parking provision exists for the smaller 2 and 3 
bed Persimmon dwellings and affordable housing element within the development
Limited visitor parking bays are provided throughout the development, however, 
additional short term visitor parking could be accommodated on street. 
There is a degree of concern that some garages and off street parking spaces are 
located to the rear or side and some distance from the primary means of access to the 
dwellings, with the lack of natural surveillance by the occupier and position making 
them less attractive to occupiers potentially leading to increase on street parking, 
however, as the issue is limited to isolated locations throughout the site and the estate 
roads would have capacity to accommodate an element of on street parking the issue 
is not considered sufficient to warrant objection.   
Furthermore, amendments to the distributor/spine road to provide shared use facilities 
would encourage walking and cycling as means to access local amenities and facilities 
and provide a route through the development for bus services reducing reliance on the 
private car as a mode of travel and level of car ownership in accordance with the 
recommendations set out within Active Travel Wales Act and PPW 11.  Therefore, on 
the basis that the parking requirements set out within the SPG are maximum standards 
the overall parking provision is considered acceptable. 
The Highway Officer has noted the suggested requirement for a condition requiring 
the submission of a residential travel plan in order to allow an assessment of the site 
in terms of access to sustainable modes of travel to be undertaken. However, a 
discharge of condition application (21/0372) has recently been submitted by the 
applicant in respect which submits information (in relation to this Phase 2) in respect 
of condition 33 as imposed on 10/0845 in respect of travel plan information/details. 
Accordingly, it is not considered necessary to repeat the requirement as part of 
reserved matters approval in respect of this application.

Page 26



Impact on residential amenity and character of the area 

The proposed development comprises the second phase (421 dwellings) of a much 
larger site (for up to 1850 new dwellings) which has the benefit of outline planning 
permission and allocation as a Strategic Site (SSA9) within the Council’s LDP.

It is accepted that the character of this (Phase 2) site and the wider Llanilid site will 
change, albeit perhaps to a lesser extent than is the case for those phases north of 
the A473, the first of those being Phase 1, which of course has already been approved. 
However, this impact and consequence was fully and properly considered at the 
outline stage (under 10/0845). The principle of residential development on this site is 
established and the earthworks to create the development plateaus has to a large 
extent already been completed in respect of this phase.

For a significant size development the Phase 2 site is relatively separated from existing 
development, only having existing housing standing to the east within Lonydd Glas 
and Dol Saint Ilid/St. Ilids Meadow and Ffordd Dol Y Coed (to the north/north east). A 
significant gap will be maintained between the curtilage boundaries of the new 
development and existing properties. The indications below demonstrate the 
separation distances at points between proposed and existing properties to the 
eastern boundary of the site:

 Plot  62 to 60 Dol Saint Ilid/St. Ilids Meadow – 60m
 Plot  18 to 48 Dol Saint Ilid/St. Ilids Meadow – 75m
 Plot  1 to 22 Dol Saint Ilid/St. Ilids Meadow – 77m
 Plot  408 to 6 Lonydd Glas – 45m
 Plot  379 to 18 Lonydd Glas – 90m
 Plot  383 to 105 Ffordd Dol Y Coed – 40m

It is considered that with such distances of separation there will be no significant 
impacts on the level of residential amenity currently enjoyed by existing residents 
within the existing developments referenced above.

Accordingly, it is therefore considered that the proposal will complies with Policy AW5 
of the Council’s LDP.

Trees/Hedgerows and Ecology/Biodiversity

On 23 October 2019 Welsh Government’s Chief Planner wrote to all LPA Heads of 
Planning advising that Planning Policy Wales (PPW) 10 (since superseded by 
Edition 11 – February 2021) sets out that “planning authorities must seek to maintain 
and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of their functions. This means that 
development should not cause any significant loss of habitats or populations of 
species, locally or nationally and must provide a net benefit for biodiversity”. This 
policy and subsequent policies in PPW respond to the Section 6 Duty of the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

The letter clarified that in light of the legislation and Welsh Government policy 
outlined above, where biodiversity enhancement is not proposed as part of an 
application, significant weight will be given to its absence, and unless other 

Page 27



significant material considerations indicate otherwise it will be necessary to refuse 
permission. 

It is important that biodiversity and ecosystem resilience considerations are taken 
into account at an early stage in development plan preparation and when proposing 
or considering development proposals. Planning authorities should be proactive and 
embed appropriate policies into local development plans to protect against 
biodiversity loss and secure enhancement. 

Securing a net benefit for biodiversity within the context of PPW requires a pragmatic 
response to the specific circumstances of the site. Working through the step wise 
approach and if biodiversity loss cannot be completely avoided (i.e. maintained), and 
has been minimised, it is useful to think of net benefit as a concept to both compensate 
for loss and look for and secure enhancement opportunities. 

At the 10/0845 hybrid (part full/part outline) planning consideration stage issues of 
ecological species and landscape/habitat importance at the site were identified by 
Countryside Council for Wales (CCW) (now NRW) and the Council’s Ecologist. 
Through the current assessment of this reserved matters submission those issues and 
interests and the need to ensure full and proper mitigation is secured, have again been 
highlighted.

In the case of Phase 2 there are significant European Protected Species (EPS) and 
habitat issues to address, primarily related to the presence of Great Crested Newts 
(GCN), although appropriate work has again also been undertaken in respect of other 
EPS.  

The applicant has been required to secure the necessary EPS Licence from NRW to 
be able to undertake the Phase 2 plateau earthworks, which are well underway. That 
Licence granted in respect of GCN was issued by NRW on 12 March 2021 and 
remains in force until 31 October 2021. In addition to securing that EPS Licence the 
applicant has also lodged a discharge of condition application (21/0174) seeking 
discharge of conditions 10, 12 and 13 as imposed on 10/0845 which will need to be 
agreed before works on this phase of residential development can proceed. 

Initially concerns were raised (and to an extent still remain) by both the Council’s 
ecologist and NRW in respect of this application and the scope and robustness of the 
mitigation measures proposed in order to protect and enhance interests of ecology 
and biodiversity. 

Phase 2 is only one piece of a larger jigsaw in terms of the wider species and habitat 
mitigation being developed for the Parc Llanilid site. However, in terms of the Phase 
2 plans it was noted earlier in this report that when initially submitted the proposed 
development was for a layout of 462no. dwellings. However, as a consequence of the 
need to increase the amount of land dedicated to EPS and habitat mitigation the 
applicant has had to reduce the number of units by, by 41 units, down to the 421no. 
units now shown. This reduction in units has largely been as a result of the need to 
retain the north eastern corner of the site free from development, in order to provide 
new GCN compensation ponds and secure a wider eastern habitat corridor, which 

Page 28



includes a further GCN compensation pond (at a point adjacent to plots 19 and 55 and 
to the rear of 50-58 (evens) Dol Saint Ilid/Saint Ilids Meadow.

It is noted that NRW still retain significant concerns and have recommended that any 
consent should reference the relevant landscape strategy and planting 
plans/documents within a condition identifying the approved plans and documents on 
the decision notice. Members are advised that such a condition is recommended (as 
condition 1).

Provision of Affordable Housing

At the time the hybrid application (10/0845) was considered the Council, having regard 
to a report produced by the applicant outlining site development viability and 
affordability issues, agreed (notwithstanding the fact that the site lies within the 
southern Strategy Area of the LDP where a 20% provision requirement) an affordable 
housing provision of 10% for the first 1000 dwellings to be developed across the site.  
(After the 1000th dwelling the S.106 requires that a further market assessment is 
undertaken to establish whether the development can support the 20% provision 
requirement as identified in the LDP).

The layout incorporates the provision of 43no. Affordable Housing house types 
(spread across 4 different unit types – proving 1bed (18 units), 2 bed (4 units), 3 bed 
(11 units) and 4 bed (10 units) accommodation)

The mix of the affordable housing units proposed reflects the demands identified 
through the Local Housing Market Assessment and the mix of unit size/types sought  
by the Council’s Housing Strategy team. Accordingly, given that the mix of units is as 
the Council has sought and the required 10% is incorporated it is considered the 
application is acceptable in this regard. 

Other Matters

Drainage/Flood Risk

In respect of drainage arrangements proposed to serve the development no objections 
have been raised by the Council’s Flood Risk Management (FRM) Section. DCWW 
have also raised no objection to the application, subject to the imposition of two 
conditions, with which the applicant is agreeable.

Geotechnical/Coal Mining Legacy Issues

Given the open cast coal mining history of the whole wider Llanilid site lies within an 
identified ‘high risk’ designation area and therefore consultation with The Coal 
Authority has been undertaken in respect of the proposals. 

Initially, The Coal Authority raised an objection to the application on the grounds of 
inadequate information being provided to enable them to be able to fully assess the 
proposals having regard to the mining history of the site. However, following the 
submission of additional information in respect of the ‘highwall’ of the former open cast 
site (the location of which (base to top) runs roughly east-west through the northern 

Page 29



part of the Phase 2 site – beneath that part of the site where the layout proposes plots 
342-353, 376-379 and 381-384) The Coal Authority have withdrawn that initial 
objection.

The applicant is well aware of the requirement to make a discharge of condition 
application (and gain an approval of those details) in respect of condition 9, as imposed 
on 10/0845 before commencing any building works on Phase 2. The Coal Authority 
will again be consulted in respect of that submission when it is received by the Local 
Planning Authority.

Extension of garden curtilage (issue raised by third party respondent)

One of the two responses received in respect of this application notes the seeming 
unauthorised ‘land grab’ by some households in Dol Saint Ilid/St. Ilids Meadow, who 
appear to have extended their rear gardens into land, which would fall within the site 
and green/newt eastern habitat corridor.

This land is within the ownership of Persimmon and they have been advised of the 
issue raised. No planning permissions have been issued for any garden curtilage 
extensions that may have taken place and these would be unauthorised. This matter 
will be investigated by the planning enforcement team.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Liability 

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was introduced in Rhondda Cynon Taf from 
31 December 2014. 

The application is for development of a kind that is liable for a charge under the CIL 
Regulations 2010 as amended. The application lies within Zone 3 of Rhondda Cynon 
Taf’s Residential Charging Zones, where there is a liability of £85/sqm for residential 
development (including extensions to dwellings over 100 sqm). 

The CIL for this development is expected to be £4,858,436.91 however, social housing 
relief may be claimed on those 43 dwellings that comprise the affordable housing 
element of the development.

(The social housing relief on the 43 AH dwellings is expected to be £303,302.76. This 
leaves a payment of £4,555,134.15 in respect of the market dwellings).
 

(It should be noted 15% of the £4,555,134.15 chargeable amount for the market 
housing must be passed to the Community Council (In this case Llanharan Community 
Council) (Regulation 59A – duty to pass to local council) and therefore £683,270,12 
will be required to be paid in cash. Accordingly, the market housing balance of 
£3,871,864.03 will then be taken from the Infrastructure Payment Agreement 
total/balance, as agreed as part of the approval of the Phase 1 reserved matters 
18/0334 (together with a S.106 Deed of Variation) until the total Infrastructure Payment 
Agreement balance is £0.  Payments will then be in cash.

Page 30



Section 106 Contributions / Planning Obligations 

Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act (as amended) enables local 
planning authorities and developers to agree to planning obligations to require 
operations or activities to be carried out on land (in-kind obligations) or require 
payments to be made (financial contributions), to mitigate any unacceptable impacts 
of development proposals. 

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010, with effect from 6 April 
2010, state that a planning obligation (under S.106) may only legally constitute a 
reason for granting planning permission if it is: 

i) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
ii) directly related to the development; and, 
iii) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

Planning Policy Wales advises that contributions from developers may be used to 
offset negative consequences of development, to help meet local needs, or to secure 
benefits which will make development more sustainable. Further guidance regarding 
what types of obligations developers may be expected to contribute towards is also 
contained within Policy AW4 of the Local Development Plan and the Council's SPG 
on Planning Obligations, however it is made clear that this is intended to form the basis 
of negotiations between all parties. 

The Section 106 requirements in this case 
As indicated earlier in this report the Section 106 Agreement which accompanied the 
hybrid permission (10/0845) ensured that the whole Llanilid development (up to 1850 
new dwellings, with village centre) delivered the following elements:

 the provision of a new primary school;
 a leisure/recreation and ecology biodiversity contribution; 
 the provision of affordable housing across the site;
 a ‘Local Road Contribution’ (£170k) for Bridgend CBC;
 a ‘Rail Contribution’ (£350k - for works to establish a bridged crossing over the 

main London – Swansea railway line that runs immediately to the north of the 
boundary of the site) for Network Rail

 the provision of the village/district centre;
 landscape management;
 provision of the Community Building; and,
 the provision of Changing Rooms.

The S.106 Deed of Variation agreed prior to the issue of the Phase 1 reserved matters 
approval (18/0334) recognised that it is now intended that the developer (Persimmon) 
build the school provision, unlike the previously proposed arrangement (when the 
applicant was Cofton (Wales) Ltd) that an financial sum of £5,784,092 (paid as a CIL 
contribution) be paid at the outset and the Council be responsible for building the 
school. 

Page 31



(As Members may well be aware the Council have already taken the initial steps in 
respect of  formal consultation and served the necessary statutory notice (giving 
opportunity for objection to be made) with regard to the proposed new school provision 
which is being progressed as an extension to the existing Dolau Primary School. As 
the wider Llanilid site develops, however, it is anticipated that the two elements may 
be separated to create two separate schools. However, further consultation and 
statutory process would be need to be gone through in the future should this be the 
case). 

Persimmon have indicated that they would intend to build the school provision in a 
single 540 pupil place build phase, unlike previously when the provision was 
anticipated to come forward in two phases of construction.

The other elements of provision required (as identified above) remain as set out in the 
initial S.106 Agreement.

Conclusion 

Having taken into account all of the issues identified above, it is considered that the 
proposed second phase of development of this important wider residential allocation 
site, will make an important contribution to increasing housing land supply, in an area 
of high demand, without having any significant adverse impact on highway safety, the 
character and appearance of the area or residential amenity. Whilst some concerns 
have been expressed regarding interests of ecology it is considered that the proposed 
measures of mitigation (which extend across the wider Parc Llanilid site) negate any 
impacts to a level which is not significant. The proposed development is therefore 
considered to comply with the relevant policies of the Local Development Plan.

RECOMMENDATION: Grant

1. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance within 
the following approved plans/drawings/documents: 

 
 Site Location Plan LP01

 Planning Layout PL01 Rev K (Pages 1 and 2)

 Engineering Plans 10210-200A-01E, 10210-200A-02E, 10210-200A-

03D, 10210-200B-01F, 10210-200B-02H and 10210-200B-03F

 Drainage details: SW Network A, SW Network B and SW Network C, 

Phase 2 A Surface Water Calculations.

 Landscaping Strategy LA.200 A106819-4-LA200-LA203[E] 

 Landscape Planting LA201 A106819-4-LA200-LA203[E], LA202 

A106819-4-LA200-LA203[E] and LA203 A106819-4-LA200-LA203[E]

Housetype Plans and Elevations:

Page 32



 Argus (1 bed DQR Affordable Flat)

 4.2.1 (2 Bed DQR Affordable Unit)

 Alnwick 

 Moseley

 Barton

 Windermere

 Carleton

 Grasmere

 Derwent

 Lockwood Corner

 Hornsea

 Coniston

 Strand

 Mayfair

 Harley

 Marylebone

 Fenchurch

 Garages (single, double and garage and a half)

 Boundary Treatment Details (BT-00Rev A)

 Phasing Plan PHNAB01 Rev B

 Urban Design Statement (Rev C, March 2021)

 Ecological Appraisal (WYG, September 2019)

 Tree Survey and Tree Constraints Plan (Treescene, August 2019)

 Letter from Rob Bathhurst (Integral Geotechnique) dated 18th Feb 

2021 relating to geotechnical site investigation works and 

appropriate engineering solutions for the proposed residential 

development

unless otherwise to be approved and superseded by details required by any 
other condition attached to this consent. 

Reason: In order to define the extent by the permission hereby granted and 
in order to ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with 
the approved plans.

Page 33



2. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no works whatsoever shall commence 
on site until full engineering design and details of, the internal roads, traffic 
calming, footpath links, highway structures, street lighting, and highway 
drainage including longitudinal and cross sections and construction details 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The highway works shall be fully implemented in accordance with 
the approved engineering to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the adequacy of the proposed development, in the 
interest of highway safety, free flow of traffic and encouraging sustainable 
modes of travel, having regard to policies AW5 and AW6 of the Rhondda 
Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.

3. No works shall commence on site until a geotechnical report incorporating 
any mitigation measures required to deal with ground conditions, mine 
workings and mine shafts affected by the proposed road layout have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All 
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to 
beneficial occupation of the first dwelling

Reason: To ensure the adequacy of the proposed development, in the 
interest of highway safety, having regard to policies AW5 and AW6 of the 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.

4. Surface water run-off from the proposed development shall not discharge 
onto the public highway or connected to any highway drainage system unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To prevent overloading the existing highway drainage system and 
potential flooding and in the interests of highway safety, having regard to 
policies AW5 and AW6 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.

5. A Safe Routes in Communities Assessment shall be carried out in 
accordance with the relevant Local Authority Road Safety Officers’ 
Association (LARSOA) guidelines/Learner Travel and Active Travel Wales 
(Guidance) 2014, to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to works commencing on site. The approved 
mitigation measures required shall be implemented to the satisfaction of the 
Local Planning Authority prior to beneficial occupation, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure reduction of road traffic and promotion of sustainable 
modes of travel in accordance with the policies AW5 and AW6 of the 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan and national planning policy.

6. All planting, seeding or turfing in the approved details of landscaping shall be 
carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the occupation 
of the building(s) or completion of the development, whichever is the sooner, 

Page 34



and any trees or plants which within a period of five years from the completion 
of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar 
size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent 
to any variation. 

Reason: To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in 
the interests of amenity in accordance with Policies AW5 and AW6 of the 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan. 

7. The Local Equipped Area Play (LEAP) shall be laid out and landscaped and 
made available for use within a timetable to be first agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. The LEAP shall thereafter be maintained in 
accordance with a Management Plan which shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority within one month 
following beneficial occupation of the first dwelling within the development. 

Reason: To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 
interests of amenity in accordance with Policies AW5 and AW6 of the 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan. 

8. Full details of the proposed landscape and open space management regime 
and Estate Management Company (including timescales for future 
management) shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to occupation of the first dwelling within the 
development hereby approved. 

Reason: In the interests of ecology and maintaining ecology in accordance 
with policy AW8 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan. 

9. No development shall commence on site until full site drainage 
arrangements have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The drainage works shall be fully implemented on site in 
accordance with the approved details and to the satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority prior to beneficial occupation of the first dwelling

Reason: To ensure adequate disposal of foul and surface water drainage in 
accordance with policy AW10.

10. No development shall take place until a potable water scheme to serve the 
site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall demonstrate that the existing water supply 
network can suitably accommodate the proposed development site and 
where necessary, a scheme to re-enforce the existing public water supply 
network in order to accommodate the site shall be delivered prior to the first 
beneficial occupation of any building. The agreed scheme shall be 
constructed in full and remain in perpetuity.

Page 35



Reason: To ensure that the site can be satisfactorily served by the local water 
supply system and to ensure no detriment to existing residents and/or the 
environment, in accordance with policy AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Local Development Plan.

11. Only foul water from the development site shall be allowed to discharge to 
the public sewerage system communicating via manhole SS97818801, (as 
indicated on the extract of the Sewerage Network Plan attached to this 
decision notice). Thereafter the scheme shall be implemented in accordance 
with the approved details prior to the occupation of the development.

Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, 
to protect the health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution 
of or detriment to the environment, in accordance with policy AW10 of the 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.

Page 36



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

29 APRIL 2021

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR PROSPERITY AND DEVELOPMENT

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

Members are asked to determine the planning application outlined below:

APPLICATION NO: 20/1342/10             (GH)
APPLICANT: Trivallis
DEVELOPMENT: 11 affordable dwellings and associated works. Revised 

site layout plan (repositioned bin store and shared 
amenity space) and additional section/elevation drawings 
re plot 6, received 9th March 2021.

LOCATION: FORMER MISKIN PRIMARY SCHOOL, SCHOOL 
ROAD, MISKIN, PONTYCLUN

DATE REGISTERED: 09/03/2021
ELECTORAL DIVISION: Pontyclun

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS BELOW AND 
A SECTION 106 AGREEMENT:

REASONS:  The site is located within the settlement boundary, where the 
principle of residential development is acceptable and would accord with 
Policies CS2, AW1, AW2 and SSA13 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local 
Development Plan.

The development would result in the beneficial re-use of a redundant and vacant 
building, the refurbishment of which would benefit the appearance of the site 
and surrounding area.

In addition, the new affordable dwellings would provide a valuable contribution 
towards addressing local housing needs as identified by the Council’s Local 
Housing Market Assessment 2017/23.

REASON APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE 

The proposal is not covered by determination powers delegated to the Director of 
Prosperity & Development due to the number of dwellings proposed.

APPLICATION DETAILS

Full planning consent is sought for the conversion the former Miskin Primary School, 
School Road, Miskin, to 11 affordable dwellings.

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



The proposed development would provide the following accommodation:

 5 one-bedroom ground floor apartments
 5 one-bedroom first floor apartments
 1 two-bedroom duplex apartment over both floors

The main entrance would be at the front of the building facing School Road, although 
there would be an additional access leading to the rear car park and shared amenity 
area. 

The conversion would involve the creation of a two storey front extension, which would 
be constructed within the void between the two prominent gable ends. To the rear the 
development would involve significant remodelling to remove the centrally located 
gable end and create another, together with a two storey extension of comparable 
form to that at the front.

The extensions are proposed to be enclosed with flat roofs, both of which would be 
either at or below, the existing roof lines. To provide additional natural light to the first 
floor rooms, the north and south-facing roof planes would incorporate a total of eight 
Velux style roof lights.

In terms of external finishes, the submitted plans and details state that the materials 
of the proposed extensions are designed to be sympathetic to the existing building 
with stone proposed to the ground floor walls and cladding to the first. Window detail 
would be retained to the front elevation of the property to help tie-in and maintain its 
Victorian character. 

A total of 11 off-street car parking spaces and a cycle store would be provided within 
the site, located behind the main building. The parking area would be accessed via 
the existing site access alongside the north-eastern side boundary.

As a result of concerns raised during the initial consultation period, revised plans were 
received. These seek to set the bin store further back from the front of the site and 
reallocate space to the rear of the building as a shared amenity space.

Furthermore, a revision to the southern side elevation, including the removal of a gable 
window, are proposed to address the potential overlooking of the neighbouring house 
from the flat identified as Plot 6.

In addition to the plans and elevation drawings accompanying the application, the 
following supporting documents have been submitted:

 Bat Scoping Survey
 Bat Activity Survey
 Transport Statement
 Design and Access Statement
 Drainage Strategy
 Ground Investigation Report
 Pre-Application Consultation Report

Page 38



SITE APPRAISAL

The application property is the former Miskin Primary School building, located on the 
south-eastern side of School Road in the village of Miskin. The School closed at this 
site in around 1994 and the premises were sold by the predecessor authority.

The building, which is of later 19th Century origin, occupies a rectangular site 
extending to an area of approximately 0.11ha. Although the accommodation is single-
storey it is comparable in height to a two-storey building and features two prominent 
gable ends to the principal elevation.

Elevations are of a dressed stone construction with limestone detailing, which are 
enclosed by a slate pitched roof. The site is bounded by a low stone wall set below a 
wooden fence and hedge to the north, east and south however the hardstand area to 
the front of the building is open and allows for some off-street parking provision. It is 
understood that the site was previously used as a training centre and by a builder’s 
merchant.

The surrounding area is largely characterised by residential properties of varying scale 
and design. There are two-storey, detached properties located immediately to the 
north-east and south-west of the building with more recent two-storey detached 
properties being located on the north-western side of the road, opposite the site. A 
number of mature trees and associated vegetation align the south-eastern rear 
boundary.

PLANNING HISTORY

The most recent or relevant applications on record associated with this site are:

19/5136/41: Change of use of existing building to provide 13 affordable dwellings 
and associated works. Decision: 07/01/2020, Raise Objections.

97/2419/10: Conversion to wine bar and restaurant. Decision: 01/08/1997, 
Withdrawn.

94/0640/10: Alterations to form a self-contained dwelling. Decision: 31/10/1994, 
Granted.

PUBLICITY

The application has been advertised by direct notification to thirty-four neighbouring 
properties and notices were displayed on site. A further consultation was undertaken 
on receipt of the amended details referred to above.

The initial consultation generated twenty-four letters of objection from residents, 
raising a range of concerns that can be summarised as follows:

Scale/Design of development/Character

Page 39



 Overdevelopment of the site
 The form of the existing building should be preserved to maintain its character
 Refuse storage will take up parking space
 The development would not be in-keeping and would affect the 'sense of place' 

the building offers and have a major effect on neighbouring properties. The loss 
of chimneys and addition of a large cladded front would affect its appearance

 The current building is large; however, it fits into the street as the frontage has 
a large recess in the centre, which makes it less imposing.

 If the recess was to remain, it would reduce the number of dwellings by two, but 
the impact on the neighbourhood would be substantially less and allow for an 
entrance to be made within the current footprint of the building, not the extra 
porch and steps. It would also allow for some greenery to be planted along the 
front of the building, helping it to fit into the rest of the street

 Density of development is not consistent with the surrounding area
 There are five Grade II Listed structures 300m from the site
 The revised frontage would be overbearing and out of scale and character
 Not in-keeping with other executive properties in the road and in general, 

properties in the area
 We suggest that the owners should be asked to resubmit a scaled down 

development in terms of dwellings including appropriately designed outdoor 
space

 I fully support social housing and the re-development of a historic building in 
the village but feel that many people on such a small site would be overcrowded 
and may impact the mental welfare of the residents

Sustainability

 There are no facilities in the village except for a bus service
 The proposed development does not upgrade the environment and does not 

take into consideration a low carbon Wales. The proposals do not address any 
environmental issues

 Poor connectivity to cycle and walking networks; a car is the only way of 
accessing social infrastructure and shops, (increasing noise and air pollution); 
public transport is expensive and inaccessible (Pontyclun station is 25 minute 
walk); site is not accessible for the old or disabled; there are no play areas in 
Lower Miskin; there are no outdoor areas/gardens or areas for local food 
growing

 Current Trivallis developments in the locality suggest that 60% of the residents 
have a permanent disability, so it is highly unlikely that the residents will walk 
the 2km to the shops in Pontyclun. The local bus schedules are limited and the 
nearest bus-stops around 1/2 mile from the Old School, so with no local taxi 
firms, the new residents will need to have a car to get their weekly groceries

 The site is 2km from local shops and the health centre, and 2.5km to the library 
and school

 Tenants of these dwellings would have no outdoor space other than the parking 
spaces, there seems to be no provision for drying clothes outside

 Without outdoor space, there is no room for any children living there to play and 
neither is there any room for elderly residents to sit outdoors. This does not 

Page 40



bode well for the mental health and well-being of any residents and may well 
cause problems further down the line

 No outside space available to residents. I believe this will not provide a healthy 
environment for those people who will live there. The current pandemic has 
highlighted the need for outside space and this proposal offers none to its 
residents

 The 11 dwellings will potentially leave 24 people living on top of each other with 
no communal space either indoors or out. The pandemic has shown us the 
importance of outdoor space in individual health and well-being, particularly 
mental health.

 The back of the property is to be a car park with 11 car parking spaces. There 
will be no balconies and there are no nearby parks

Highways:

 Traffic congestion
 Poor junction visibility
 Insufficient on-site parking
 No parking provision for visitors meaning further on road parking
 The road is very busy since the driving test centre is close by
 Cars regularly mount pavements to let speeding motorists through from the 

north using the road as an alternative route to the M4 and the Vale of 
Glamorgan

 The amount of traffic that is coming down School Road and the other road into 
the village has increased tremendously as motorists are trying to avoid the 
congestion on the A4119 to Junction 34 of the M4. This will get worse when the 
houses are all built on the old Cardiff Road.

Affordable Housing:

 The 400 houses at Cefn Yr Hendy will have a high proportion of affordable 
dwellings, and would be better located for access to services

 Development has been proposed and granted for up to 900 houses within one 
mile of the proposed development, which will provide up to 180 affordable 
homes.

Amenity

 The houses opposite, at The Grange, would be overlooked from any flats in the 
first floor

 The flats look directly into the back of my house from the side (proposed flats 6 
and 7). Vegetation does not buffer this.

 Increase in noise and disturbance due to the development particularly the 
change of use to parking in garden/school yard area. There will be an increase 
in light and noise pollution affecting residents

 At night, the headlights from cars exiting the Old School car rear park will point 
directly into the bedroom windows of the houses opposite.

 More residents are working from home in the pandemic which is likely to 
continue for the next nine to twelve months. Any building work to the Old School 

Page 41



will present those home workers with much noise and dirt from the proposed 
works and make telephone and zoom type meetings difficult. In addition, the 
workers are likely to park in the road and the deliveries are going to cause noise 
and obstructions.

 The bin store is located adjacent to a neighbouring property which would be 
likely to cause smells and insect/rodent nuisance

Ecology/Biodiversity

 Bats forage and fly over the back gardens of Beechlea Close and School Road 
at dusk every night. The car park will affect protected species since artificial 
lighting of bat roosts, access points and foraging pathways can be extremely 
disturbing to bats and should be avoided

 Little or no carbon offset planting or greenery evident
 The proposal will interfere with bats and birds around the building

Other matters

 The site has not been publicly marketed since it was sold to the last owners in 
2018. Policy AW11 requires a marketing period of 12 months for an alternative 
use of an existing employment site

 The site lies within the buffer zone for the Hendy Quarry, and Policy AW14 
requires further safeguarding from development

 The style of development always leads to lack of ownership and personal 
responsibility for waste, e.g. overflowing bins and burst recycling bags

 The bin store is too small and routes to it for residents are not convenient. There 
is little space for sorting or storing recyclables or bulk items. The size of the 
development should be constrained by what essential support facilities are 
possible, i.e. waste management, parking and amenity space, and not the other 
way around

Non-planning matters

 Likely devaluation of adjacent and surrounding existing properties due to 
proximity of social housing

 Timing of this planning application is despicable; the developers have had since 
August to proceed and have decided on the middle of December as a good 
time

 The responses to the concerns raised during the PAC are disappointingly glib 
and dismissive

 It would be lovely to see a nursery with some sustainable shops for example
 A proposed redevelopment of this nature, as a minimum, deserves a public 

hearing
 The building could be utilised in many more beneficial ways to the community 

and be a good location for a care home for the aged or a Community Hall to 
benefit local residents 

 This Community has not been given the opportunity to consider what potential 
use could be made of the facility on a cooperative basis

Page 42



At the time of writing, the second neighbour consultation had resulted in the receipt of 
further correspondence, including eleven objections, of which eight were new 
representations. Whilst some of these reconfirmed the matters listed above, the 
following was noted:

 The minor changes made to the bin storage do not address issues with waste 
management, are close to the neighbouring property, have no access from the 
rear of the premises and are inadequate in size

 Inadequate access for fire appliances
 Absence of electric car charging points
 The provision of a tiny square labelled as a shared communal space next to a 

car park is inadequate for 11 dwellings
 The revised site layout does not in any way solve the problems of parking
 Very disappointing that no changes have been made to the proposed scale of 

the development
 Concerns about residents congregating to smoke in the small amenity area
 Mitigation from dust will be required during construction 

CONSULTATION

Pontyclun Community Council

The Council supports the redevelopment of the site and the need for additional 
affordable dwellings in the area, but objects to the overdevelopment of the site. It is 
considered that conversion to 11 dwellings would be too great a density and the 
external space would be insufficient for quality of life. Subsequently, the Council 
reviewed the amended plans, but felt that the changes were insufficient to warrant 
altering its objection.

Highways and Transportation

No objection, subject to conditions in respect of site access and parking, and 
informative notes relating to street naming and consent for works in the public 
highway.

Flood Risk Management

From the perspective of the Flood Authority the key element required to satisfy TAN 
15 will be the surface water discharge rate. The applicant will be required to 
demonstrate the pre and post catchment discharge rates and as a Brownfield site a -
30% discharge rate will be required.

Since the proposed development will encompass works with drainage implications for 
an area over 100m², Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 will 
apply. No objection or recommendation for condition in relation to surface water flood 
risk is recommended for this application as this will be adequately managed by both 
the separate Building Regulations process and Sustainable Drainage Approval.

Public Health and Protection

Page 43



Conditions are recommended in respect of noise, dust, demolition, hours of operation 
and waste. It is considered that these can be considered within the scope of a 
construction method/management statement. In addition, a condition for the 
submission of a site investigation is required.

Natural Resources Wales

Notes that the site overlies a principle bedrock aquifer and therefore the controlled 
waters at the site are environmentally sensitive. Conditions are therefore 
recommended in respect of unidentified contamination and surface water infiltration. 
NRW also advises that a European Protected Species Licence will be required due to 
the presence of a roost on site.

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water

A condition, relating to the regulation of surface water flows is recommended, together 
with advisory notes in respect of foul and mains water services.

Western Power Distribution

A new connection or service alteration will require a separate application to WPD.

South Wales Fire and Rescue Service

The developer should consider the need for the provision of adequate water supplies 
on site for firefighting purposes and access for firefighting appliances, together with an 
appendix of standard guidance notes for various types of development.

Countryside, Landscape and Ecology – Ecologist

The bat survey report records a small common pipistrelle bat roost in the building, 
identifies the need for a NRW EPS Licence, and proposes mitigation by way of two 
replacement bat roosts. Although the bat usage is of a low level NRW should be 
consulted to ensure this is the case and confirm they are happy with the level of 
mitigation offered.

No other consultation responses have been received within the statutory period.

POLICY CONTEXT

Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan

The application site lies within the settlement boundary for Miskin.

Policy CS2 - The policy emphasis in the Southern Strategy Area (SSA) is on 
sustainable growth that protects the culture and identity of communities by focusing 
development within defined settlement boundaries.
Policy CS5 - The policy identifies that there is a need to provide 1770 affordable 
housing units over the plan period.

Page 44



Policy AW1 - This policy is concerned with the supply of new housing within the 
County Borough. It stipulates that the supply will be met by the development of 
unallocated land within the defined settlement boundaries of the Principal Towns, Key 
Settlements and Smaller Settlements, including the conversion of suitable structures.
Policy AW2 - The policy provides for development in sustainable locations which are 
within the settlement boundary; would not unacceptably conflict with surrounding uses; 
and have good accessibility by a range of sustainable transport options.
Policy AW4 - details the types of planning obligations that may be sought in order to 
make the proposal acceptable in land use planning terms and that Community 
Infrastructure Levy contributions might apply.
Policy AW5 - The policy identifies the appropriate amenity and accessibility criteria 
for new development proposals. It expressly states that the scale, form and design of 
the development should have no unacceptable effect on the character and 
appearance of the site and the surrounding area. There should also be no significant 
impact upon the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and should, where appropriate, 
retain existing features of natural environmental value. Additionally, the development 
would require safe access to the highway network and provide parking in accordance 
with the Council’s SPG.
Policy AW6 - The policy supports development proposals that are of a high standard 
of design that reinforce attractive qualities and local distinctiveness. Proposals must 
also be designed to protect and enhance landscape and biodiversity.
Policy AW8 - Seeks to protect and enhance the natural environment from 
inappropriate development.
Policy AW10 - Development proposals must overcome any harm to public health, the 
environment or local amenity.
Policy AW11 - Identifies criteria for consideration when alternative uses are proposed 
for employment sites.
Policy AW14 - Seeks to safeguard mineral resources from sterilisation by 
development, including the nearby Hendy Quarry.
Policy SSA11 - The policy stipulates that residential development will only be 
permitted where the net residential density meets a minimum of 35 dwellings per 
hectare.
Policy SSA12 - The provision of 20% affordable housing will be sought on sites of 5 
units or more.
Policy SSA13 - The settlements in the Southern Strategy Area have absorbed a 
significant amount of new development during the last decade. In order to protect the 
identity of these settlements, ensure the efficient use of land and protect the 
countryside from urbanisation and incremental loss; the policy stipulates that 
development will not be permitted outside the defined settlement boundary.

Supplementary Planning Guidance

 Design and Place-making
 Access, Circulation and Parking Requirements
 Affordable Housing
 Planning Obligations
 Nature Conservation
 Development of Flats

National Guidance

Page 45



In the determination of planning applications regard should also be given to the 
requirements of national planning policy which are not duplicated in the Local 
Development Plan, particularly where national planning policy provides a more up to 
date and comprehensive policy on certain topics. 

Planning Policy Wales Edition 11 (PPW) was issued on 24th February 2021 in 
conjunction with Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 (FW2040). PPW incorporates 
the objectives of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act into town and 
country planning and sets out Welsh Government’s (WG) policy on planning issues 
relevant to the determination of all planning applications. FW2040 sets out the National 
Development Framework for Wales (NDF), WG’s current position on planning policy 
at regional and national level.

It is considered that the proposed development is consistent with the key principles 
and requirements for placemaking set out in PPW; and is also consistent with the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act’s sustainable development principles through 
its contribution towards the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives of driving 
sustainable development and building healthier communities and better environments.

It is also considered the proposed development is compliant with the NDF, with the 
following policies being relevant to the development proposed:

 Policy 1 – Where Wales will grow
 Policy 2 – Shaping Urban Growth
 Policy 7 – Delivering Affordable Homes

SE Wales Policies

 Policy 33 – National Growth Areas Cardiff Newport & the Valleys

Other relevant national policy guidance consulted:

PPW Technical Advice Note 2: Planning and Affordable Housing
PPW Technical Advice Note 12: Design
PPW Technical Advice Note 18: Transport
Manual for Streets.

REASONS FOR REACHING THE RECOMMENDATION

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if 
regard is to be had to the development plan for the purposes of any determination to 
be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with 
the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Furthermore, applications that are not in accordance with relevant policies in the plan 
should not be allowed, unless material considerations justify the grant of planning 
permission. 

Main Issues:

Page 46



Principle of the proposed development

LDP Policies AW1, AW2 and SSA13 seek to promote development in sustainable 
locations in order to protect the countryside from incremental loss and urbanisation.

In this case the site is located inside the defined settlement boundary and within an 
established residential area which is accessible by sustainable transport options; 
primarily a local bus service offering travel to the nearby retail area of Talbot Green, 
to Cardiff City Centre and onward travel to the wider area.

These bus stops are located approximately 340m to the north of the site and 380m to 
the south. By way of comparison, the latter is comparable to the walking distance 
between the new Llys Cadwyn library and Boots store in Pontypridd town centre.

Policy CS2 also seeks to protect the culture and identity of communities by focusing 
development within defined settlement boundaries and promotes the reuse of under 
and previously developed land and buildings.

With regard to the last point, the relevance of Policy AW11 was also considered. For 
buildings that have been employment sites and where a change of use is proposed, 
the policy requires evidence of marketing to demonstrate a lack of demand for 
retention for employment purposes.

Nevertheless, since the closure of the school, there have been no subsequent 
planning applications for a Use Class A or B development. Therefore, the established 
lawful use is considered to remain as Class D1 which incorporates a range of uses 
such as clinics, health centres, creches, day nurseries, schools, non-residential 
education and training centres, museums, public libraries, public halls etc.

Whilst planning consent was granted for conversion of part of the building to a dwelling 
in 1994, it appears that this consent was never implemented. However, the building 
has been used more recently as a training centre by HCC, which Members will note is 
a Class D1 use. In light of the planning history, it is considered that Policy AW11 is not 
applicable.

Also considered to be inapplicable, despite the proximity of Hendy Quarry, is Policy 
AW14, which aims to protect mineral resources. The reason for this view is that the 
School site is already developed, and the proposal would not extend its curtilage or 
cause such mineral resources to be further sterilised, or their extraction prevented.

A further policy consideration is SSA11 where a minimum density of 35 dwellings per 
hectare is sought. The application site is approximately 0.11 hectares, and the 
proposal would result in a net residential density of roughly 118 dwellings per hectare, 
which is well in excess of the requirements of Policy SSA11.

Lastly, the Council’s Housing Strategy Team has advised that this social rented 
scheme has been designed by Trivallis in dialogue with them, in order to help address 
the need for additional affordable housing within Miskin, and that the unit mix and 

Page 47



tenure proposed are in accord with the Local Housing Market Assessment 2017/23. 
As such, this proposal satisfies Policy SSA12.

Consequently, the site is considered to be in a sustainable location and the 
development would result in the refurbishment and reuse of a currently vacant 
building. The proposal would therefore comply with the primary objectives of the 
aforementioned policies and the principle of the proposed development in this location 
is considered to be acceptable.

National Sustainable Placemaking Outcomes

PPW11 has placed great emphasis on the need for development proposals to 
demonstrate sustainable placemaking, and to ensure that the right development is 
achieved in the right place; furthermore, that these outcomes, which are contained 
within Chapter 2, are used to assess development proposals.

National Policy acknowledges that not every development proposal will be able to 
demonstrate that they can meet all of the outcomes, or that it can be proved that an 
attribute of a proposal will necessarily result in a particular outcome.

It is also recognised that the interpretation of the relevant criteria will depend upon the 
specific proposal and the context of a site, and in the planning balance, that greater 
material weight may be given to some attributes rather than others.

In addition to consideration of the placemaking merits of the scheme within the other 
sections of the report, the proposed development is considered to align particularly 
well with the following national sustainable placemaking outcomes:

 Creating and Sustaining Communities: The development density exceeds that 
prescribed by Policy SSA11 and would help to provide much-needed affordable 
homes in an area of unmet demand.

 Making Best Use of Resources: The development would result in the re-use 
and regeneration of an existing building, and would be of sufficient quality given 
the need for it to meet affordable housing DQR standards

 Facilitating Accessible and Healthy Environments: The Transport Statement 
demonstrates that the property would not be car dependant, would benefit from 
public transport links and would have access to a range of goods and services 
within a reasonable travelling distance.

 Maximising Environmental Protection: A sustainable drainage scheme will 
provide betterment to existing surface water flow, and the development will 
introduce a small areas of planting and soft landscaping, where currently there 
is none.

 Growing Our Economy in a Sustainable Manner: The development would have 
a positive effect in terms of construction jobs.

No negative impacts, upon any of the other national outcomes, were identified.

Impact on the character and appearance of the area

Page 48



The proposed development seeks to retain the existing school building, although the 
shell of the structure would be subject to extension and modification in order to enable 
the level of accommodation required by the Applicant.

Although the development would cause a marked change to the appearance of the 
rear of the building, the proposed extension to the front is that which would have the 
greater impact on the street scene, and which has been a concern of objectors.

Whilst the character of the building would undoubtedly be altered and the 
contemporary extensions would add substantially to its mass, it should be recognised 
that the property is not listed, and the site is not within or adjacent to the Miskin 
Conservation area.

Whilst the appropriateness of design of the development may be subject to differing 
opinions and individual interpretation, it is considered preferable that the Applicant has 
sought to convert the property rather than demolish it and replace with a modern 
alternative.

LDP Policies AW5 and AW6 identify the most relevant design criteria that should be 
considered, including that the scale, form, and design of the development would have 
no unacceptable effect on the character of the site and surrounding area, and that 
elevational treatment, materials and detailing are appropriate to the local context.

As noted during the site visit, the surrounding development in this part of the village is 
mostly of later 20th century construction. This includes all of the properties on the 
western side of School Road from the large, modern All Hallows Church at its 
northernmost end, and to the south, beyond its junction with The Chestnuts.

On this basis it is considered it would not be reasonable to argue that the development 
would be out of keeping with, or cause detriment to, the local character. Consequently, 
whilst the design approach of aiming to blend traditional finishes with modern elements 
may not suit all tastes, for the purposes of planning policy the scheme is not 
considered to be visually harmful or introduce any degree of incongruity sufficient to 
warrant a recommendation of refusal on these grounds.

Impact on amenity

Neighbouring occupiers

The conversion of the school building would not affect its physical relationship with 
neighbouring properties, and the development would not therefore cause harm by 
detriment to outlook or by overshadowing.

In this regard particular attention was given to any impact upon the two residential 
properties adjacent to the site boundary, and also as to whether any overlooking 
opportunities would be likely from the conversion.

Whilst the modifications to the rear of the school building would alter the northern side 
elevation facing towards Old School House, its height would not exceed that of the 
existing roof. Furthermore, this neighbouring house occupies a slightly higher plot, 

Page 49



thus the outlook from its first floor side window would not be considered to be 
compromised, compared with the current situation.

In respect of the adjacent house to the south, Crud yr Awel, the overall scale of the 
side elevation would be unchanged. As noted within the application details section 
further above, a revision was submitted to remove a small gable window, since it was 
considered possible that it might enable intrusive views towards Crud yr Awel.

Subsequently, the only first floor windows of concern - namely those neither looking 
towards blank elevations nor screened by existing boundary treatments - would now 
be roof lights. Due to their position in the relevant roof planes, both in terms of their 
internal/external height and set back from the eaves, it is considered they would not 
affect the residential privacy of either Crud yr Awel or Old School House.

Other than those matters mentioned, a condition for a construction method statement 
is recommended for the purposes of minimising disruption and dust issues. A further 
issue of concern to immediate neighbours was highlighted in respect of whether the 
communal amenity area would cause future residents to congregate there to smoke 
and cause a pollution nuisance.

The Applicant has confirmed that while smoking is not permitted in internal communal 
areas, such as corridors and staircases, residents are able to smoke in their flats and 
would not have to go outside. Otherwise, the situation would not be very different from 
any other residential arrangement where back gardens share a boundaries, so 
although the concern is appreciated, it would not provide a sustainable reason for a 
planning objection.

The nearest other properties to the application site are located on the opposite side of 
School Road. Due to the topography and distance between windows of habitable 
rooms in opposing elevations being no less than 24m, the conversion of the school 
would not cause detriment to the amenity from reciprocal intrusive views.

Future occupiers of development

The main considerations relating to the quality of life and amenity standards of future 
residents of the former school building are incorporated within the Council’s SPG for 
the Development of Flats.

The SPG does not stipulate internal space requirements, but in this case the Welsh 
Government’s Delivering Quality Requirements (DQR) sets minimum standards of 
floorspace for social housing developments built by housing associations. These 
standards must be met for such schemes to receive the housing grant necessary to 
enable their construction.

Therefore, although a number of objectors have raised concerns about the density of 
the scheme and the desirability of having 11 units within the extended school building, 
it is considered that this would not provide a sustainable planning reason for a refusal 
of consent.

Page 50



In terms of any external amenity space, the DQR only sets a standard for houses and 
bungalows, requiring 40m² and 30m² respectively, although means for the drying of 
clothes and storage of waste are specified for flats.

Nonetheless, the Council’s SPG does address this matter and states that residents of 
flats “should be provided with access to either private or communal outdoor space, 
such as a balcony or garden, unless the possibility of this is restricted by other factors. 
Flats without outdoor space are more likely to be acceptable where high quality public 
open space is located close by”.  

Initially, the proposed conversion did not include any communal ‘garden’ area, as that 
now allocated was identified for the benefit of the duplex apartment only. However, 
following representations to the Applicant’s Agent, as the report previously advises, 
the current alteration was made.

Representations, regarding whether the amount of amenity space to be provided will 
be sufficient for the wellbeing of residents, have been eloquently made by a number 
of objectors, given the density of the scheme and the potential number of residents.

It is noted that Miskin is well-placed to access links for longer countryside walks and 
the village is a pleasant area in which to walk around, and although there is a large 
public open space further to the north west (426m as the crow flies), there are no 
immediately accessible formal recreation or park areas for those who may be less 
mobile.

The last year of lockdowns and restrictions on movement caused by Covid has 
highlighted the value of immediate access to quality outdoor space, and these matters 
have been well-covered in the media, where residents of flats have been badly hit, 
particularly in urban areas and inner cities.

The need to ensure such access in the future has been recognised by public and 
professional bodies and the Welsh Government published Building Better Places in 
July 2020, setting out priorities and actions for placemaking, in response to the effects 
of the pandemic.

Building Better Places recognises the value of green infrastructure, health and well-
being and ecological resilience in general terms, as well as protecting and improving 
access to recreation and natural green spaces - already a national sustainable 
placemaking outcome. Understandably, it does not qualify or quantify what might be 
acceptable for a small housing scheme in an established settlement, and the 
judgement remains one for the decision maker.

The Applicant was asked to consider options for reducing the scale of the scheme and 
number of dwellings to enable more communal external space on site, and it is 
disappointing that the development is to be considered more or less on the same basis 
as originally submitted. However, the Applicant’s position is also appreciated in that 
such requests have to be considered along with the overall viability of the scheme and 
the desire to deliver as many affordable homes as possible to address unmet needs.

Page 51



On balance and set against the other material matters that weigh in favour of the 
scheme, any shortfall in communal external amenity space provision is not considered 
to be of sufficient detriment to warrant a recommendation of refusal in this instance.

Access and highway safety

Access

The application property is served from School Road, Miskin which has a carriageway 
width of 5.9m and footways to a width of 1.5m. The latter is of slight concern since the 
current standard footway width recommended for safe pedestrian movement is 2m. 

As part of the development the vehicular access to the rear car parking area is 
proposed to be widened to 5.5m for a short distance to assist vehicle turning 
manoeuvres into and out of the access, then continuing at 3.5m in width for the 
remainder of its length, which is acceptable. The submitted floor plans indicate that 
primary access to the eleven dwellings would be via a communal entrance directly 
from School Road, which is considered acceptable.

The submitted plans also indicate that the kerb line on the development side of School 
Road is to be ‘built-out’ to improve available vision for vehicles exiting the parking area. 
Full engineering design and details of the proposed alterations to the kerb line can be 
secured by the recommended condition.

Vision splays

In the vicinity of the site School Road has a speed limit of 30Mph. TAN 18 states that 
a visibility splay of 2.4m x 40m is required, however due to the boundary wall of the 
adjacent properties the visibility splay is totally obscured to the right.

As noted above, the proposed site plan incorporates a localised narrowing of School 
Road to 5.5m, which would allow the kerb line on the development side to be ‘built-
out’ to improve the available vision splays. As such, the proposal offers betterment to 
the existing situation and given that the access is to serve off-street parking only no 
highway objection is raised.

Vehicle Parking 

The proposal comprises of 10 one-bed and 1 two-bed apartments. The Council’s 
adopted SPG for Access, Circulation and Parking states that  1-2 bedroom dwellings 
have a maximum off-street parking requirement of 2 spaces per dwelling plus 1 space 
per 5 dwellings for visitors, which in this case equates to a total maximum requirement 
25 spaces (22 for residents and 3 for visitors).

The submitted information indicates that 11 spaces are to be provided, resulting in a 
shortfall of 12 spaces, which gives cause for concern. However, considering that the 
majority of the dwellings would be 1 bedroom apartments, which tend to demonstrate 
lower car ownership rates, the Council’s Highways and Transport Section considers 
that the provision of 11 spaces is, on balance, acceptable in this instance. 

Page 52



Cycle Parking

The aforementioned SPG identifies that the development would have a cycle parking 
requirement of 1 stand per 5 bedrooms. There are a total number of 12 bedrooms 
proposed, equating to a requirement of 3 stands. The submitted information 
indicates provision of 6 stands. Therefore, the proposal provides acceptable cycle 
parking provision.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Liability

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was introduced in Rhondda Cynon Taf from 
31 December 2014.

The application is for development of a kind that is liable for a charge under the CIL 
Regulations 2010 as amended. The application lies within Zone 3 of Rhondda Cynon 
Taf’s Residential Charging Zones, where there is a liability of £85m² for residential 
development (including extensions to dwellings over 100m²).

The CIL (including indexation) for this development is expected to be £52,642.56.

However, social housing relief may be claimed on the social housing element of the 
development.

Section 106 Contributions / Planning Obligations 

Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act (as amended) enables Local 
Planning Authorities and developers to agree to planning obligations to require 
operations or activities to be carried out on land (in-kind obligations) or require 
payments to be made (financial contributions), to mitigate any unacceptable impacts 
of development proposals.

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010, with effect from 6 April 
2010, state that a planning obligation (under S.106) may only legally constitute a 
reason for granting planning permission if it is:

1. necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
2. directly related to the development; and,
3. fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

Welsh Office Circular 13/97 Planning Obligations provides procedural guidance on the 
role of planning obligations in mitigating the site-specific impacts of unacceptable 
development to make it acceptable in planning terms. The Welsh Government 
Development Management Manual also advises planning obligations should only be 
used where it is not possible to address unacceptable impacts through a planning 
condition and when it meets the three tests above.   Further guidance regarding what 
types of obligations developers may be expected to contribute towards is also 
contained within Policy AW4 of the Local Development Plan and the Council's SPG 
on Planning Obligations, however it is made clear that this is only intended to form the 
basis of negotiations between all parties.

Page 53



The Section 106 requirements in this case

In this case the proposed development, on behalf of the Registered Social Landlord 
Trivallis, would provide 100% affordable housing for social rent.

Therefore, a S106 agreement will be required to ensure that the dwellings are 
established and maintained as affordable units, for the continued purpose of meeting 
identified local housing needs.

Conclusion

For the reasons given above the proposed conversion of the school for residential use 
is considered to be acceptable in principle and would be compatible with neighbouring 
land uses.

Both the design of the scheme and reuse of this vacant building would represent a 
considerable improvement to the appearance of the site and immediate street scene 
and would retain key features of the original Victorian building.

Although concerns remain about the limited amenity space that would be afforded to 
new residents, the acceptability of the scheme in all other planning respects, together 
with its contribution towards meeting affordable housing needs, weigh more heavily in 
its favour.

Therefore, subject to the conditions suggested below and the Section 106 agreement 
to secure the tenure of the scheme, the recommendation to Members is that the 
proposed development is acceptable.

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS BELOW AND A 
SECTION 106 AGREEMENT:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
five years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with Sections 91 and 93 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved plans and drawings:

 A006 Rev E Proposed Site Layout
 A007 Rev B proposed Ground Floor Plan
 A008 Rev B Proposed First Floor Plan
 A009 Rev B Proposed Roof Plan
 A010 Rev A Proposed Front and Rear Elevations
 A011 Rev B Proposed Side Elevations
 A015 Plot 6 – Section and Elevation

Page 54



and documents received by the Local Planning Authority on 25th November 
2020 and 10th March 2021, unless otherwise to be approved and 
superseded by details required by any other condition attached to this 
consent.

Reason: To ensure compliance with the approved plans and documents and 
to clearly define the scope of the permission.

3. No development shall commence until full engineering design and details of 
the proposed alterations to the kerb line on School Road have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved details shall be implemented on site prior of beneficial occupation 
of any dwelling.

Reason: To ensure the adequacy of the proposed highway improvement 
works, in the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic, in 
accordance with Policy AW5 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development 
Plan.

4. No development shall commence, including any works of site clearance or 
demolition, until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to provide for:

a) The means of access into the site for all construction traffic,
b) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors,
c) The management of vehicular and pedestrian traffic,
d) Loading and unloading of plant and materials,
e) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development,
f) Wheel cleansing facilities,
g) The sheeting of lorries leaving the site.
h) Means of protecting neighbouring properties from dust and debris from 
demolition and construction activities.

The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the development process unless agreed otherwise in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the safety and free flow of traffic, in accordance 
with Policy AW5 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.

5. No development shall commence until a scheme to deal with contamination 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The scheme shall 
include all of the following measures unless the LPA dispenses with any such 
requirement specifically and in writing:

(a) A desk-top study carried out by a competent person to identify and 
evaluate all potential sources and impacts of contamination relevant 
to the site. The desk top study should contain a conceptual site model.
(b) A site investigation shall be carried out by a competent person to 
fully and effectively characterise the nature and extent of any 

Page 55



contamination and its implications. The site investigation shall not be 
commenced until a desk-top study has been completed satisfying the 
requirements of paragraph (a) above.
(c) A written method statement for the remediation of contamination 
affecting the site shall be agreed in writing with the LPA prior to 
commencement and all requirements shall be implemented and 
completed to the satisfaction of the LPA by a competent person. No 
deviation shall be made from this scheme without the express written 
agreement of the LPA.

Reason: In the interest of health and safety and environmental amenity in 
accordance with Policy AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development 
Plan.

6. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied and/or operated 
until the measures approved in the scheme (referred to in condition 5) have 
been implemented and a suitable validation report of the proposed scheme 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. Any validation 
report shall be carried out by a competent person.

Reason: In the interest of health and safety and environmental amenity in 
accordance with Policy AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development 
Plan.

7. If during development works any contamination should be encountered which 
was not previously identified and is derived from a different source and/or of 
a different type to those included in the contamination proposals then work 
shall cease and revised contamination proposals shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the LPA prior to the work recommencing. Any revised 
contamination proposals shall be carried out by a competent person.

Reason: In the interest of health and safety and environmental amenity in 
accordance with Policy AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development 
Plan.

8. No infiltration of surface water into the ground is permitted other than with the 
express written consent of the LPA, which may be given for those parts of 
the site where it has been demonstrated that there is no resultant 
unacceptable risk to controlled waters.

Reason: In the interest of health and safety and environmental amenity in 
accordance with Policy AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development 
Plan.

9. No development shall commence until details of the external materials and 
finishes proposed to be used have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

Page 56



Reason:  To ensure that the external appearance of the proposed 
development will be in keeping with the character of the area and adjoining 
buildings and in the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policies 
AW5 and AW6 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.

10. The off-street parking area at the rear of the development together with its 
means of access shall be laid out and constructed on site in permanent 
materials in accordance with submitted drawing no. A006 Rev E. The parking 
spaces and access shall remain for their intended purposes only.

Reason: To ensure vehicles are parked off the public highway, in the interests 
of highway safety and the free flow of traffic, in accordance with Policy AW5 
of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.

11. Surface water flows from the development shall only communicate with the 
public surface water sewer through an attenuation device that discharges at 
a rate not exceeding 7.5 l/s.  

Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to 
protect the health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of 
or detriment to the environment, in accordance with Policy AW10 of the 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.

============================================================================

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

29 APRIL 2021

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR PROSPERITY AND DEVELOPMENT

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

Members are asked to determine the planning application outlined below:

APPLICATION NO: 20/1345/15             (GD)
APPLICANT: Lidl Great Britain Ltd
DEVELOPMENT: Variation of condition 7 (sales of goods) of planning 

permission 98/4284/15.
LOCATION: FFORDD TIRWAUN, CWMBACH, ABERDARE
DATE REGISTERED: 09/12/2020
ELECTORAL DIVISION: Cwmbach

RECOMMENDATION: Approve 

REASONS:  The principle of the proposed development is well established in 
the initial grant of outline planning permission and the subsequent planning 
applications and approval of reserved matters in relation to the development of 
this site.

REASON APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE 

 Three or more letters of objection have been received.

APPLICATION DETAILS

This application seeks to vary the terms of condition 7 applied to planning permission 
98/4284 relating to the range of goods that can be sold from the Tirfounder fields site. 
Condition 7 currently states the following – 

Save with the consent of the Local Planning Authority in writing the following goods 
only shall be sold from any further retail units to be erected on the retail park subject 
of this consent: DIY and garden related goods, caravans, boats, tool hire, building 
goods and products, furniture and furnishings, electrical and gas goods and products, 
carpets, floor coverings, cars/cycles and their accessories, office goods and 
equipment, pets and pet supplies. Any application for consent under the terms of this 
condition shall be accompanied by evidence or justification (including retail impact 
assessment where necessary) demonstrating the effect on retail trading in Aberdare 
and Mountain Ash town centres.

Page 59

Agenda Item 7



Reason: To define the extent of the consent granted and to ensure that no adverse 
impact is generated on the vitality, attractiveness and viability on the nearby town 
centres of Mountain Ash and Aberdare.

The applicants aim to have the wording of condition 7 altered to read as follows – 

7. Save with the consent of the LPA in writing, with the exception of the food store unit 
described in the plans accompanying this application, the following goods shall only 
be sold from any further retail units to be erected on the retail park subject of this 
consent: DIY and garden related goods, caravans, boats, tool hire, building goods and 
products, furniture and furnishings, electrical and gas goods and products, carpets, 
floor coverings, cars/cycles and their accessories, office goods and equipment, pets 
and pet supplies.  Any application for consent under the terms of this condition shall 
be accompanied by evidence or justification (including retail impact assessment where 
necessary) demonstrating the effect on retail trading in Aberdare and Mountain Ash 
town centres.

Reason: To define the extent of the consent granted and to ensure that no adverse 
impact is generated on the vitality, attractiveness and viability on the nearby town 
centres of Mountain Ash and Aberdare.

In essence if Members allow this proposal along with that submitted under application 
20/1346 it would result in the construction of a Lidl food store on the southern part of 
this site and the reconfiguration of the southernmost unit of the formerly approved 
block B.

The application is accompanied by the following:

 Retail Impact Assessment
 Approved and proposed plans…
 Application forms and certificates
 CIL forms.

SITE APPRAISAL

The application site in this instance comprises the largely undeveloped area of land 
located between the established retail outlets and the railway line at Cwmbach. The 
site comprises the vacant land to the east of the Asda store and is the only part of the 
wider retail site initially granted planning permission in 1989 that is yet to be developed. 
The site occupies a substantial portion of the valley floor between Aberaman and 
Cwmbach and lies immediately south of a Persimmon housing development.

PLANNING HISTORY

20/1346 Variation of condition 1 
approved plans of NMA 
18/0366

Not Yet Determined

Page 60



18/0366 NMA to insert a condition 
into ARM 98/4647 to 
identify approved plans

Approved 8th May 2018

98/4647 Reserved Matters retail 
(all except Asda) 
restaurant and hotel 
pursuant to 51/87/0244

Approved 17th March 
2008

98/4284 Variation of conditions 
15 & 16 of planning 
permission 51/87/0244

Approved 10th 
December 2007

98/4283 Variation of condition 18 
of 51/87/0244 (minimum 
unit size)

Approved 16th 
December 1998

98/4223 Variation of condition 17 
of 51/87/0244 (maximum 
retail floorspace)

Approved 16th 
December 1998

98/4120 Variation of condition 2 
of 51/87/0244

Approved 3rd June 1998

97/4289 Vary condition 3 of 
51/87/0244 and 
condition 1 of 
51/93/0428

Approved 30th 
December 1997

51/96/0022 Access reserved matters 
under 51/87/0244

Approved 18th March 
1996

51/93/0428 Reserved matters retail 
park, hotel and bowls 
hall

Approved 19th February 
1996

51/92/0362 Vary conditions 2 & 3 of 
51/87/0244

Approved 23rd 
September 1992

51/87/0244 Retail park, hotel and 
bowls hall (outline 
application

Approved 18th 
December 1989

PUBLICITY

The application has been advertised by means of site notices and neighbour 
notification letters and four objections have been received raising the following issues 
– 

 The application is submitted under Section 73 which means that the Local 
Planning Authority can reconsider whether planning permission should be 
refused or what conditions should be imposed.

 Concerns over flooding have increased significantly and residential 
development has been completed nearby, sustainable drainage systems are 
now a priority to be addressed in development and there is nothing in the 
current application to suggest the proposals are supported by a Flood 
Consequences assessment.

 The site does not adjoin the river Cynon but a flood overflow channel that rose 
significantly during wet periods over the last year. The application does not 

Page 61



appear to acknowledge that a watercourse lies within the site nor does it 
address the consequences of building over it.

 The plans indicate that the level of the site would be raised which could affect 
any flood storage capacity that the site currently provides making vulnerable 
property even more vulnerable.

 The views of NRW should be sought before any decision is made in respect of 
this application. 

 No evidence is available on the public file that indicates the development would 
not adversely affect the surrounding area.

 The proposals fail to demonstrate compliance with Local Development Plan 
Policy AW5(6) which requires compliance with national policy in respect of 
development within flood zone C (TAN 15).

 Policy AW6(16) requires new development to demonstrate good water 
management and there is nothing in the proposals to indicate this.

 There is nothing in the proposals to indicate that policy AW10(8) - flooding has 
been addressed.

 The application is not supported by any kind of transport assessment that takes 
into account traffic movements in the construction or operational phase, 
compared to the terms of the original consent

 Currently traffic can be queuing on the A4059 past the Asda roundabout and 
residents of Tirfounder Fields experience difficulty exiting on to the road. The 
application is not supported by any evidence that the development would not 
exacerbate this situation. One resident suggest that a traffic light solution is 
needed

 The Asda roundabout is dangerous as it is not used properly by drivers, 
accessing the housing development is ignored by drivers using the bypass road 
leading to near misses. Similarly, illegal parking on the access road is also a 
problem that causes difficulties and additional development will make this 
worse.

 Asda lorries park up on the estate road adjacent to the play area making it 
unsafe for the children of the area to use.

 There is no evidence that LDP policy AW5.2(c) will be complied with or that 
traffic congestion will not occur or be exacerbated by these proposals.

 The loss of landscaping on the original scheme fronting the highway is opposed 
there is no softening of the development from public views or a green barrier to 
separate vehicle fumes in the adjoining car park from pedestrians using the 
pavement.

 The proposed layout and lack of detail submitted do not demonstrate the 
development accords with the requirements of LDP policy AW6 (7)

 The developer has not addressed the requirements of the Environment Wales 
Act 2016 relating to the obligation to maintain and enhance biodiversity in 
development. The scrubland has recently been obliterated and its biodiversity 
lost with no ecological studies having been carried out within the last 2 years. 
Nothing is submitted with the scheme to indicate any compensatory or 
enhancement measures on site as a consequence of the proposed 
development.

 LDP policy AW6(14) promotes development that protects and enhances 
landscape and biodiversity, whilst policy AW8(2) requires development to have 

Page 62



no unacceptable impact on features of importance to landscape or nature 
conservation and neither requirement appears to have been met.

 The site is not allocated for retail development in the LDP so presumably the 
development is being treated as a departure from the Local Development Plan.

 Confusion over approved plans is expressed given the difference between the 
plans approved under non material amendment 18/0366 and those approved 
for highways under 98/4647

 Compliance with conditions of 51/87/0244 is also questioned.
 Gardens will be overlooked by delivery vehicles and the proposed buildings. 

Invading the fundamental human right to privacy and family life and the peaceful 
enjoyment of possessions.

 The completion of the service road immediately adjacent to properties which 
has the potential to cause damage to property and outbuildings.

 Delivery vehicles and the proposed buildings will create disruption and pollution 
having a negative impact on air quality 

 The proposals have little or no regard to their potential to cause or worsen flood 
risk to existing dwellings either through the removal of the natural flood storage 
pond that has developed adjacent to the housing development or through the 
lack of details relating to proposals for the drainage infrastructure that ends in 
the site.

 Residents of Tirfounder Fields pay a maintenance charge to manage the flood 
relief channel and it is not clear how this would be affected if this site is 
developed.

 Developing so close to homes on a mass of water opposite where the Council 
have identified a need for flood prevention works (Canal Road) is not a good 
idea and would counteract the Council’s priorities.

 The play area adjacent to the access road is now operational and the area 
already suffers with cars parking along the access road to visit the shops the 
additional access road and more vehicular traffic will have an adverse impact 
on road safety, making the playground too dangerous to for Children to access. 
This again conflicts with the Council’s priorities for future generations.

 The development will have a negative impact on the value of the homes that sit 
adjacent to its boundary.

 The long term environmental and climate impacts of the proposed development 
on future generations needs to be properly considered.

 Further development will result in increased littering. 
 Homeowners should have a separate access/egress for the estate.

CONSULTATION

Transportation Section – There would be no objection to the variation of condition 7 
subject to the proposed use complying with the Council’s SPG Access, Circulation & 
Parking with no detrimental impact on the public highway.

Natural Resources Wales – Indicate that the consideration of this application lies 
outside of their remit

POLICY CONTEXT

Page 63



Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan

Policy CS1 – places an emphasis on building strong and sustainable communities in 
the northern strategy area
Policy AW2 - advises that development proposals on non-allocated sites will only be 
supported in sustainable locations.
Policy AW5 - sets out criteria for new development in relation to amenity and 
accessibility.
Policy AW6 - requires development to involve a high quality design and to make a 
positive contribution to place making, including landscaping.
Policy AW8 – sets out criteria for the protection of the natural environment that new 
development should meet.
Policy AW10 - development proposals must overcome any harm to public health, the 
environment or local amenity as a result of flooding.

Supplementary Planning Guidance

Design and Placemaking
Design in Town Centres
Access Circulation and Parking
Shopfront Design

National Guidance

In the determination of planning applications regard should also be given to the 
requirements of national planning policy which are not duplicated in the Local 
Development Plan, particularly where national planning policy provides a more up to 
date and comprehensive policy on certain topics. 

Planning Policy Wales Edition 11 (PPW) was issued on 24th February 2021 in 
conjunction with Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 (FW2040). PPW incorporates 
the objectives of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act into town and 
country planning and sets out Welsh Government’s (WG) policy on planning issues 
relevant to the determination of all planning applications. FW2040 sets out the National 
Development Framework for Wales (NDF), WGs current position on planning policy at 
regional and national level. 

It is considered that the proposed development is consistent with the key principles 
and requirements for placemaking set out in PPW; and is also consistent with the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act’s sustainable development principles through 
its contribution towards the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives of driving 
sustainable development and building healthier communities and better environments. 

It is also considered the proposed development is compliant with the NDF, with the 
following policies being relevant to the development proposed:

 Policy 1 – Where Wales will grow – Employment/Housing/Infrastructure
 Policy 2 – Shaping Urban Growth – Sustainability/Placemaking

Page 64



 Policy 3 – Supporting Urban Growth – Council 
land/Placemaking/developers/regeneration/sustainable 
communities’/exemplar developments.

 Policy 6 - Town Centre First – commercial/retail/education/health/public 
services

Other relevant policy guidance consulted:

PPW Technical Advice Note 4: Retailing and Town Centres;
PPW Technical Advice Note 12: Design;
PPW Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood Risk;
PPW Technical Advice Note 18: Transport;
PPW Technical Advice Note 23: Economic Development;
Manual for Streets

REASONS FOR REACHING THE RECOMMENDATION

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if 
regard is to be had to the development plan for the purposes of any determination to 
be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with 
the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Furthermore, applications that are not in accordance with relevant policies in the plan 
should not be allowed, unless material considerations justify the grant of planning 
permission. 

In this instance, the applicants have submitted an application under s.73 Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 to amend condition 7 of Planning Permission 98/4284 (see 
above) relating to the range of goods that can be sold from the balance of the 
consented retail development. In such circumstances the Local Planning Authority are 
required to consider only the conditions subject to which the planning permission 
should be granted and in doing so the Local Planning Authority must consider whether 
there has been any change in policy or any other material circumstance that might 
affect the proposal. If the application is successful, this results in the grant of a new 
permission.

The Local Planning Authority may grant the permission subject to conditions differing 
from those to which the previous permission was granted or refuse the application. 
The Local Planning Authority however do not have the power to impose conditions 
which could not have been imposed on the original permission nor impose conditions 
that would result in a fundamental alteration to the development approved by the 
original application. Whether the application is granted or refused the original grant of 
planning permission would remain.

The key determinants in the consideration of this application are that the site benefits 
from an extant planning permission for retail development, albeit that is with a higher 
degree of restriction in terms of the range of goods that can be sold, the planning policy 
position, and the impact that proposed changes would have on adjacent town centres.  
The site benefits from detailed reserved matters consent for retail development initially 

Page 65



approved under application 98/4647 with the approved plans subsequently specified 
under the non-material amendment 18/0366. The consent remains extant as a result 
of the partial implementation of the approved service access. In planning policy terms, 
the site lies within the settlement limits as defined by the Rhondda Cynon Taff Local 
Development Plan and within the Cynon Valley River Park designation. The site is not 
allocated for any specific use. The presence of the site within the designation does not 
prevent its redevelopment but it does place a requirement on the developer to visually 
enhance the site through the development process, and this the current proposals 
would achieve. The development would take place within defined settlement limits and 
it would not, as one objector has suggested, represent a departure from the plan. 
Because the proposed broadening of the range of goods to be sold could have an 
adverse impact on the retail centres of Aberdare and Mountain Ash, the applicants 
have supported the current applications with a retail impact assessment. The 
assessment has been the subject of independent scrutiny by Lichfields on behalf of 
the Council and the findings have been found to be robust. The reports establish that 
the impacts on Aberdare and Mountain Ash will not be sufficiently substantive so as 
to have an adverse impact.

Applications made under Section 73 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 allow 
the Local Planning Authority to do one of two things when an applicant seeks to vary 
the condition, it can: -

(a) Grant consent either with or without conditions; or,
(b) Refuse.

In that the Council can approve with or without conditions, it is also appropriate to 
consider the extent and nature of all the previous conditions attached and if the 
application is to be granted amend them to reflect current circumstances and 
requirements

Members will note that the objections raised in respect of the current applications 
covering a variety of topic areas. Keeping in mind the nature of the current application 
and the process that has to be followed in its determination as described above, the 
following comments are offered.

Planning policy, procedural and legal issues – Policy AW5(6) does require 
compliance with Technical Advice Note 15 Development & Flood Risk and this would 
have been the case when retail development was proposed and approved for this part 
of the site.

Policy AW6(16) does require the developer to demonstrate good water management, 
but it does not oblige them to do so before permission is granted. On this point 
Members are referred to the comments on drainage below.

With regard to Policy AW10(8) relating to flooding see below.

Policy AW5.2(c) and the impact on congestion – see below.

Page 66



Policy AW6(7) relates to making landscaping an integral part of the development which 
in the context of a commercial development the revised proposals achieve – also see 
below.

Policy AW6(14) aims to protect and enhance landscape and biodiversity and these 
issues are addressed below. Similarly concerns expressed in respect of policy AW8(2) 
are noted but objectors have not identified specifically what their concerns are in this 
regard and these issues are again addressed below 

Highways and transportation issues – The application is not accompanied by any 
kind of transport assessment or statement but it does not need to be. Members should 
note that the Transportation section has not requested one and have raised no 
objections to the current proposals. Furthermore, the objector has failed to recognise 
the reduced nature of the development now proposed reflected in the overall reduction 
in approved floorspace that the new proposals would involve (circa 1280 square 
metres gross less) or the fact that a food store will drive the number of linked trips.

The accusation that the proposals will increase congestion on the A4059 is not 
supported with any evidence and reflects an existing problem that there is no evidence 
the current proposals will make any worse particularly when the fall back of an extant 
consent that could still be implemented is taken into account.

The behaviour of a small minority of motorists on the Asda roundabout is not a 
sustainable reason to resist the current proposals and neither is the behaviour of 
delivery lorries serving the same store nor the illegal parking of motorists on the access 
road.

The presence of the play area and the parking around it is of little consequence to the 
current proposals as the foodstore would be accessed from a roundabout located 
further south 

Amenity issues – In comparison to the original approved details for the site that could 
still be implemented there is no loss of landscaping, in fact there is a slight 
improvement with thicker planting bunds to the fringes of the site. Furthermore, whilst 
the objectors don’t indicate what aspects of the landscape they consider important or 
worthy of protection historically this part of the valley floor has been considered of low 
landscape value which is probably a result of the fact that historically it was a tipping 
site.

Physical and social infrastructure issues – On the issue of drainage, Members 
should note that because of the age of the initial permissions the obligation to pursue 
a SUDS approach to drainage does not apply and the principles that apply to flooding 
(including the issues relating to the flood relief channel) and indeed any flood 
consequences assessment issues would have been dealt with previously and the 
applicants have every right to rely on their findings.

Ecology – the site has a long history of consent for retail development that dates back 
some 30 years and what objectors describe as scrubland has no recognised ecological 
value and the owner has every right to undertake clearance and maintenance as they 

Page 67



see fit. This could have been undertaken in any event as a consequence of the extant 
planning permission. As such the fact they have done so cannot be held against the 
current proposals. The requirements of the Environment Wales Act 2016 are reflected 
in Planning Policy Wales 11 as is the obligation to maintain and enhance biodiversity 
as introduced through the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act but it cannot be applied 
retrospectively.

Other issues – The developer has acknowledged an initial error in that the site does 
not lie adjacent to the River Cynon but the flood relief channel. 

The objector is unclear as to the watercourse within the site referred to in the objection. 
The initial intention of creating the flood relief channel amongst other things was to 
allow the replacement of the Cwmbach ditch which previously crossed the site. In any 
event the development of the site will need to develop a drainage system that is 
acceptable to Flood Risk Management.

 It is well established that for the purposes of TAN 15 Development and Flood Risk the 
falls within zone C2. However, Members should keep in mind that for the purposes of 
TAN15 retail development is considered a less vulnerable form of development and 
that in this case under previous approvals the raising of the site levels to the 
satisfaction of Natural Resources Wales and their predecessors has been previously 
agreed, and as part of that the applicants or their predecessor would have 
demonstrated that there would be no adverse impact on flood storage or adverse 
impacts elsewhere. 

To suggest there is no evidence on file that the proposed development would not 
adversely affect the surrounding area, ignores the fact that these issues would have 
been fully addressed in the course of the initial approval for retail development on this 
site.

The service road already has the benefit of planning permission to run behind the 
houses to the immediate north of the site and has already been partially implemented. 
In this case it worth noting that the proposed arrangement has the effect of potentially 
reducing its impact as the food store if allowed would service from its own car park 
rather than via the service road. In any event the arrangement has already been 
deemed acceptable in amenity terms in the earlier grant of reserved matters approval.

A number of residents have made reference to various other bodies of legislation, 
claiming that allowing the proposals would be contrary to their requirements. The 
legislation and documents cited are as follows -

 The Human Rights Act 1998
 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
 The Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

.

The planning system by its very nature respects all legislation that influences it and 
the rights of the individual whilst acting in the interest of the wider community. It is an 
intrinsic part of the decision-making process for the Council to assess the effects that 

Page 68



a proposal will have on individuals, and weigh these against the wider public interest 
in determining whether a development should be allowed to proceed. In carrying out 
this balancing exercise the Council will of course wish to be satisfied that it has acted 
proportionately. In the present case, as detailed in this report, officers have considered 
and balanced those material considerations relevant to the application in making the 
recommendation to Committee.

How the management and maintenance of the flood relief channel happens or who 
contributes to it has no bearing on the acceptability or otherwise of the current 
proposals in planning terms.

The impact of the proposed development on house prices is not a material planning 
consideration and cannot influence the decision to be made in respect of this 
application.

Whilst home owners on the estate might desire a separate access and as something 
of itself it might be regarded as an improvement its presence or absence cannot 
influence a decision in this reserved matters submission.

Members will note the comments from highways and transportation above, and are 
advised that if they are minded to approve this planning application then in order to 
secure the required highway arrangements to serve the development the conditions 
applied to application 20/1346 are also applied here

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Liability

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was introduced in Rhondda Cynon Taf from 
31 December 2014.

The application is for development of a kind that is CIL liable under the CIL Regulations 
2010 (as amended).in this instance, due to the nature of the application being a 
Section 73 application and the proposals involving the creation of less floor space than 
was previously approved, under Regulation 128A the CIL charge is nil, £0.

Conclusion

The application is considered to comply with the relevant policies of the Local 
Development Plan insofar as it relates to the condition that it is proposed to alter. The 
applicants have supported the proposals with a retail impact assessment that 
demonstrates that the impact of the proposed development on the nearby town 
centres are acceptable. 

RECOMMENDATION: Grant

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
five years from the date of this permission.

Page 69



Reason:  To comply with Sections 91 and 93 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans/drawings/documents -- 

- P101 Rev B proposed floor plan
- P102 Rev B proposed floor plan areas
 - P103 proposed roof plan 
- P201 Rev B phase 1 & 2 elevations
- P202 Rev B proposed elevations
- P400 Rev D proposed site plan
- P401 Rev D phase 1 & 2 
- P402 Rev B phases elevation plan
- P403 location plan
- LIAS design notes & luminaire schedule DWG00;
- proposed lighting layout DWG 01

unless otherwise to be approved and superseded by details required by any 
other condition attached to this consent

Reason In order to define the extent by the permission hereby granted and 
to ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans.

3. Save with the written consent of the Local Planning Authority, with the 
exception of the foodstore unit described in the approved plans, only the 
following goods shall be sold from any other retail units to be erected on the 
retail park subject of this consent: DIY and garden related goods, caravans, 
boats, tool hire, building goods and products, furniture and furnishings, 
electrical and gas goods and products, carpets, floor coverings, cars/cycles 
and their accessories, office goods and equipment, pets and pet supplies.  
Any application for consent under the terms of this condition shall be 
accompanied by evidence or justification (including retail impact assessment 
where necessary) demonstrating the effect on retail trading in Aberdare and 
Mountain Ash town centres.

Reason: To define the extent of the consent granted and to ensure that no 
adverse impact is generated on the vitality, attractiveness and viability on the 
nearby town centres of Mountain Ash and Aberdare.

4. No development shall take place until the drainage arrangements to serve 
that phase of development have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 70



Reason: To ensure adequate disposal of foul and surface water drainage in 
accordance with Policy AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Tal Local 
Development Plan

5. No retail unit shall be occupied until the drainage works to serve that phase 
of development have been completed in accordance with the approved 
plans.

Reason: To ensure adequate disposal of foul and surface water drainage in 
accordance with Policy AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development 
Plan.

6. The gross retail floorspace for the scale of electrical goods in phase 2 of the 
revised layout shall not exceed 1673 square metres (18000 sq ft) and for 
furniture and carpets shall not exceed5576 square metres (60000 sq ft).

Reason: Any further change to a more comprehensive form of retailing  would 
result in a larger unacceptable  volume of trade  being drawn away from the 
town centres of Aberdare and Mountain Ash.

7. Save with the consent of the Local Planning Authority, the size of any 
individual retail unit shall not be less than 929 square metres (gross). Any 
application for consent under the terms of this condition shall be 
accompanied by evidence or justification (including retail impact 
assessment where necessary) demonstrating that the effect on retailing in 
Aberdare and Mountain Ash town centres respectively.

Reason: Any further change to more comprehensive form of retailing would 
result in a larger and unacceptable volume of trade being drawn away from 
the town centres of Aberdare and Mountain Ash.

8. The threshold levels of all new proposed buildings shall be set a minimum of 
600mm above the Q100 level for the site as agreed with Natural Resources 
Wales.

Reason: The site is liable to flooding during extreme weather conditions and 
to ensure that the risk and consequences of flooding have been fully taken 
into account.

9. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town & Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order (as amended), or any order revoking or re-
enacting that order, no unit within the development hereby approved shall be 
provided with a mezzanine level to increase the net sales area of the unit.

Reason: To protect the vitality, viability and attractiveness of the town centres 
at Aberdare and Mountain Ash.

10. Before the development is brought into beneficial use the means of access 
together with the parking and turning facilities shall be laid out in accordance 
with the submitted Corun amended access plan Drawing no: 20-00724 03 

Page 71



received 3rd January 2021.  The approved details shall be implemented prior 
to the first occupation of the approved food store unit. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
11. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no works whatsoever, other than site 

clearance, remediation and preparation works, shall commence on site until 
full engineering design and details of the new road layout, sept path 
analysis, footpath links, street signage, removal of existing signage, street 
lighting, surface water drainage and highway structures, including 
longitudinal and cross sections have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The highway works shall be fully 
implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to the first 
occupation of the food store hereby approved.

Reason: To ensure the adequacy of the proposed development in the 
interests of highway safety.

12. Prior to the substantive completion of the food store herby approved a 
delivery management plan for the servicing of the proposed store has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved details shall remain in in operation thereafter. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety to ensure the adequacy of the 
proposed access and circulation.

13. The vehicular access to the site shall be laid out constructed and retained 
thereafter with 2.4m x 40m vision splays.

Reason: To ensure that adequate visibility is provided in the interests of 
highway safety.

14. Surface water run off form the proposed development shall not discharge on 
to the public highway or be connected to any highway drainage system 
unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to prevent over capacity of 
the existing highway drainage system and potential flooding.

15. No development shall take place, including any works of site clearance, 
until a construction method statement has been submitted to and approve 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority to provide for - 

a) the means of access into the site for all construction traffic.
b) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
c) the management of vehicular and pedestrian traffic.
d) loading and unloading of plant and materials.
e) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development.
f) wheel cleansing facilities,
g) the sheeting of lorries leaving the site.

Page 72



The approved construction method statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the development process unless agreed otherwise in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of safety and the free flow of traffic.

16. All planting, seeding or turfing in the approved details of landscaping shall be 
carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the occupation 
of the building(s) or completion of the development, whichever is the sooner, 
and any trees or plants which within a period of five years from the completion 
of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar 
size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent 
to any variation.

Reason:  To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in 
the interests of amenity in accordance with Policies AW5 and AW6 of the 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.

17. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town & Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995, (or any order revoking  and re-
enacting that order) no extensions or alterations which increase gross floor 
space shall be erected or carried out.

Reason: To restrict the usable floor space  of the premises in accordance 
with policy CS1 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.

18. Building operations shall not be commenced until samples of the external 
finishes proposed to be used have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority and all materials used shall conform to the 
sample(s) so approved.

Reason:  To ensure that the external appearance of the proposed 
development will be in keeping with the character of the area and adjoining 
buildings in the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policies AW5 
and AW6 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

29 APRIL 2021

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR PROSPERITY AND DEVELOPMENT

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

Members are asked to determine the planning application outlined below:

APPLICATION NO: 20/1346/15             (GD)
APPLICANT: Lidl Great Britain Ltd
DEVELOPMENT: Variation of condition 1 approved plans of planning 

permission 18/0366/39.
LOCATION: TIRFOUNDER FIELDS, CWMBACH
DATE REGISTERED: 09/12/2020
ELECTORAL DIVISION: Cwmbach

RECOMMENDATION: Approve 

REASONS:  The principle of the proposed development is well established in 
the initial grant of outline planning permission and the subsequent planning 
applications and approval of reserved matters in relation to the development of 
this site.

REASON APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE 

 Three or more letters of objection have been received.

APPLICATION DETAILS

The application seeks to vary the approved plans condition for the reserved matters 
approval 98/4647 which was approved pursuant to outline planning permission 
98/4284. The approved plans condition was inserted into the reserved matters consent 
under non material amendment 18/0366. All associated pre commencement 
conditions have been discharged and the previously approved details commenced on 
site in the partial construction of the site service road. The approved plans condition 
is as follows – 

1 The consent hereby granted relates to the following plans - 

 Location Plan (Ref: AL8282(S)1(2500)
 Layout Plan (Ref: AL8282(S500)1G)

Page 75

Agenda Item 8



 Elevations (Ref: AL8282(D200)1A)
 Landscape Layout Plan (Ref: AL8282(L)5A)
 Lighting Layout (Ref: AL8282(L)11)

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt as to the approved plans.

The applicants aim is to have the wording of the approved plans condition altered to 
read as follows – 

1. The consent hereby granted relates to the following plans - 

-    P101 Rev B proposed floor plan.
 P102 Rev B proposed floor plan areas 
 P103 proposed roof plans
 P201 Rev B phase 1 & 2 elevations
 P202 Rev B proposed elevations
 P400 Rev D proposed site plan
 P401 Rev D phase 1 & 2
 P402 Rev B phase elevation plan
 P403 location plan
 Proposed lighting layout DWG01

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt as to the approved plans

In essence, if Members allow this proposal along with that submitted under application 
20/1345 it would result in the construction of a Lidl food store on the southern part of 
this site and the reconfiguration of the southernmost unit of the formerly approved 
block B.

The application is accompanied by the following:

 Retail Impact Assessment
 Approved and proposed plans…
 Application forms and certificates
 CIL forms.

SITE APPRAISAL

The application site in this instance comprises the largely undeveloped area of land 
located between the established retail outlets and the railway line at Cwmbach. The 
site comprises the vacant land to the east of the Asda store and is the only part of the 
wider retail site initially granted planning permission in 1989 that is yet to be developed. 
The site occupies a substantial portion of the valley floor between Aberaman and 
Cwmbach and lies immediately south of a Persimmon housing development.

PLANNING HISTORY

Page 76



20/1345 Variation of condition 7 
(sales of goods) of 
planning permission 
98/4284

Not Yet Determined

18/0366 NMA to insert a condition 
into ARM 98/4647 to 
identify approved plans

Approved 8th May 2018

98/4647 Reserved Matters retail 
(all except Asda) 
restaurant and hotel 
pursuant to 51/87/0244

Approved 17th March 
2008

98/4284 Variation of conditions 
15 & 16 of planning 
permission 51/87/0244

Approved 10th 
December 2007

98/4283 Variation of condition 18 
of 51/87/0244 (minimum 
unit size)

Approved 16th 
December 1998

98/4223 Variation of condition 17 
of 51/87/0244 (maximum 
retail floorspace)

Approved 16th 
December 1998

98/4120 Variation of condition 2 
of 51/87/0244

Approved 3rd June 1998

97/4289 Vary condition 3 of 
51/87/0244 and 
condition 1 of 
51/93/0428

Approved 30th 
December 1997

51/96/0022 Access reserved matters 
under 51/87/0244

Approved 18th March 
1996

51/93/0428 Reserved matters retail 
park, hotel and bowls 
hall

Approved 19th February 
1996

51/92/0362 Vary conditions 2 & 3 of 
51/87/0244

Approved 23rd 
September 1992

51/87/0244 Retail park, hotel and 
bowls hall (outline 
application

Approved 18th 
December 1989

PUBLICITY

The application has been advertised by means of site notices and neighbour 
notification letters and four objections have been received raising the following issues 
– 

Page 77



 The application is submitted under Section 73 which means that the Local 
Planning Authority can reconsider whether planning permission should be 
refused or what conditions should be imposed.

 Concerns over flooding have increased significantly and residential 
development has been completed nearby, sustainable drainage systems are 
now a priority to be addressed in development and there is nothing in the 
current application to suggest the proposals are supported by a Flood 
Consequences Assessment.

 The site does not adjoin the river Cynon but a flood overflow channel that rose 
significantly during wet periods over the last year. The application does not 
appear to acknowledge that a watercourse lies within the site nor does it 
address the consequences of building over it.

 The plans indicate that the level of the site would be raised which could affect 
any flood storage capacity that the site currently provides making vulnerable 
property even more vulnerable.

 The views of NRW should be sought before any decision is made in respect of 
this application. 

 No evidence is available on the public file that indicates the development would 
not adversely affect the surrounding area.

 The proposals fail the demonstrate compliance with Local Development Plan 
Policy AW5(6) which requires compliance with national policy in respect of 
development within flood zone C (TAN 15).

 Policy AW6(16) requires new development to demonstrate good water 
management and there is nothing in the proposals to indicate this.

 There is nothing in the proposals to indicate that policy AW10(8) - flooding has 
been addressed.

 The application is not supported by any kind of transport assessment that takes 
into account traffic movements in the construction or operational phase, 
compared to the terms of the original consent

 Currently traffic can be queuing on the A4059 past the Asda roundabout and 
residents of Tirfounder Fields experience difficulty exiting on to the road. The 
application is not supported by any evidence that the development would not 
exacerbate this situation. One resident suggest that a traffic light solution is 
needed

 The Asda roundabout is dangerous as it is not used properly by drivers, 
accessing the housing development is ignored by drivers using the bypass road 
leading to near misses. Similarly, illegal parking on the access road is also a 
problem that causes difficulties and additional development will make this 
worse.

 Asda lorries park up on the estate road adjacent to the play area making it 
unsafe for the children of the area to use.

 There is no evidence that LDP policy AW5.2(c) will be complied with or that 
traffic congestion will not occur or be exacerbated by these proposals.

 The loss of landscaping on the original scheme fronting the highway is opposed 
there is no softening of the development from public views or a green barrier to 

Page 78



separate vehicle fumes in the adjoining car park from pedestrians using the 
pavement.

 The proposed layout and lack of detail submitted do not demonstrate the 
development accords with the requirements of LDP policy AW6(7)

 The developer has not addressed the requirements of the Environment Wales 
Act 2016 relating to the obligation to maintain and enhance biodiversity in 
development. The scrubland has recently been obliterated and its biodiversity 
lost with no ecological studies having been carried out within the last 2 years. 
Nothing is submitted with the scheme to indicate any compensatory or 
enhancement measures on site as a consequence of the proposed 
development.

 LDP policy AW6(14) promotes development that protects and enhances 
landscape and biodiversity, whilst policy AW8(2) requires development to have 
no unacceptable impact on features of importance to landscape or nature 
conservation and neither requirement appears to have been met.

 The site is not allocated for retail development in the LDP so presumably the 
development is being treated as a departure from the Local Development Plan.

 Confusion over approved plans is expressed given the difference between the 
plans approved under non material amendment 18/0366 and those approved 
for highways under 98/4647.

 Compliance with conditions of 51/87/0244 is also questioned.
 Gardens will be overlooked by delivery vehicles and the proposed buildings. 

Invading the fundamental human right to privacy and family life and the peaceful 
enjoyment of possessions.

 The completion of the service road immediately adjacent to properties which 
has the potential to cause damage to property and outbuildings.

 Delivery vehicles and the proposed buildings will create disruption and pollution 
having a negative impact on air quality 

 The proposals have little or no regard to their potential to cause or worsen flood 
risk to existing dwellings either through the removal of the natural flood storage 
pond that has developed adjacent to the housing development or through the 
lack of details relating to proposals for the drainage infrastructure that ends in 
the site.

 Residents of Tirfounder Fields pay a maintenance charge to manage the flood 
relief channel and it is not clear how this would be affected if this site is 
developed.

 Developing so close to homes on a mass of water opposite where the Council 
have identified a need for flood prevention works (Canal Road) is not a good 
idea and would counteract the Council’s priorities.

 The play area adjacent to the access road is now operational and the area 
already suffers with cars parking along the access road to visit the shops the 
additional access road and more vehicular traffic will have an adverse impact 
on road safety, making the playground too dangerous for Children to access. 
This again conflicts with the Council’s priorities for future generations.

 The development will have a negative impact on the value of the homes that sit 
adjacent to its boundary.

Page 79



 The long term environmental and climate impacts of the proposed development 
on future generations needs to be properly considered.

 Further development will result in increased littering. 
 Homeowners should have a separate access/egress for the estate.

CONSULTATION

Transportation Section – No objections subject to conditions

Natural Resources Wales – raise no objection to the current proposal and advise that 
previous advice relating to the finished floor levels for the site and the need to maintain 
access to the flood relief channel for maintenance purposes be carried forward.

Aberdare Chamber of Trade - No response received

Mountain Ash & Penrhiwceiber Chamber of Trade – No response received

POLICY CONTEXT

Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan

Policy CS1 – places an emphasis on building strong and sustainable communities in 
the northern strategy area
Policy AW2 - advises that development proposals on non-allocated sites will only be 
supported in sustainable locations.
Policy AW5 - sets out criteria for new development in relation to amenity and 
accessibility.
Policy AW6 - requires development to involve a high quality design and to make a 
positive contribution to place making, including landscaping.
Policy AW8 – sets out criteria for the protection of the natural environment that new 
development should meet.
Policy AW10 - development proposals must overcome any harm to public health, the 
environment or local amenity as a result of flooding.

Supplementary Planning Guidance

Design and Placemaking
Design in Town Centres
Access Circulation and Parking
Shopfront Design

National Guidance

Page 80



In the determination of planning applications regard should also be given to the 
requirements of national planning policy which are not duplicated in the Local 
Development Plan, particularly where national planning policy provides a more up to 
date and comprehensive policy on certain topics. 

Planning Policy Wales Edition 11 (PPW) was issued on 24th February 2021 in 
conjunction with Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 (FW2040). PPW incorporates 
the objectives of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act into town and 
country planning and sets out Welsh Government’s (WG) policy on planning issues 
relevant to the determination of all planning applications. FW2040 sets out the National 
Development Framework for Wales (NDF), WGs current position on planning policy at 
regional and national level. 

It is considered that the proposed development is consistent with the key principles 
and requirements for placemaking set out in PPW; and is also consistent with the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act’s sustainable development principles through 
its contribution towards the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives of driving 
sustainable development and building healthier communities and better environments. 

It is also considered the proposed development is compliant with the NDF, with the 
following policies being relevant to the development proposed:

 Policy 1 – Where Wales will grow – Employment/Housing/Infrastructure
 Policy 2 – Shaping Urban Growth – Sustainability/Placemaking
 Policy 3 – Supporting Urban Growth – Council 

land/Placemaking/developers/regeneration/sustainable 
communities’/exemplar developments.

 Policy 6 - Town Centre First – commercial/retail/education/health/public 
services

Other relevant policy guidance consulted:

PPW Technical Advice Note 4: Retailing and Town Centres;
PPW Technical Advice Note 12: Design;
PPW Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood Risk;
PPW Technical Advice Note 18: Transport;
PPW Technical Advice Note 23: Economic Development;
Manual for Streets

REASONS FOR REACHING THE RECOMMENDATION

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if 
regard is to be had to the development plan for the purposes of any determination to 
be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with 
the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Furthermore, applications 

Page 81



that are not in accordance with relevant policies in the plan should not be allowed, 
unless material considerations justify the grant of planning permission. 

In this instance the applicants are submitting an application under Section 73 of the 
Town & Country Planning Act 1990 to vary the approved plans condition introduced 
into reserved matters approval 98/4647 by the Non Material Amendment 18/0386. In 
such circumstances the Local Planning Authority are required to consider only the 
conditions subject to which the planning permission should be granted and in doing 
so the Local Planning Authority must consider whether there has been any change in 
policy or any other material circumstance that might affect the proposal. If the 
application is successful, this results in the grant of a new permission.

The Local Planning Authority may grant the permission subject to conditions differing 
from those to which the previous permission was granted or refuse the application. 
The Local Planning Authority however do not have the power to impose conditions 
which could not have been imposed on the original permission nor impose conditions 
that would result in a fundamental alteration to the development approved by the 
original application. Whether the application is granted or refused the original grant of 
planning permission would remain.

The key determinants in the consideration of this application are that the site benefits 
from an extant planning permission for retail development, albeit that is with a higher 
degree of restriction in terms of the range of goods that can be sold, the planning policy 
position, and the impact that proposed changes would have on adjacent town centres.  
The site benefits from consent for retail development initially approved under reserved 
matters 98/4647 with the approved plans subsequently specified under the non-
material amendment 18/0366. The consent remains extant as a result of the partial 
implementation of the approved service access. In planning policy terms, the site lies 
within the settlement limits as defined by the Rhondda Cynon Taff Local Development 
Plan and within the Cynon Valley River Park designation. The site is not allocated for 
any specific use. The presence of the site within the designation does not prevent its 
redevelopment but it does place a requirement on the developer to visually enhance 
the site through the development process, and this the current proposals would 
achieve. The development would take place within defined settlement limits and it 
would not, as one objector has suggested, represent a departure from the plan. 

Because the proposed broadening of the range of goods to be sold could have an 
adverse impact on the retail centres of Aberdare and Mountain Ash, the applicants 
have supported the current applications with a retail impact assessment. The 
assessment has been the subject of independent scrutiny by Lichfields on behalf of 
the Council and the findings have been found to be robust. The reports establish that 
the impacts on Aberdare and Mountain Ash will not be sufficiently substantive so as 
to have an adverse impact.

Page 82



Applications made under Section 73 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 allow 
the Local Planning Authority to do one of two things when an applicant seeks to vary 
the condition, it can: -

(a) Grant consent either with or without conditions; or,
(b) Refuse.

In that the Council can approve with or without conditions, it is also appropriate to 
consider the extent and nature of all the previous conditions attached and if the 
application is to be granted amend them to reflect current circumstances and 
requirements

Members will note that the objections raised in respect of the current applications 
covering a variety of topic areas. Keeping in mind the nature of the current application 
and the process that has to be followed in its determination as described above, the 
following comments are offered.

Planning policy, procedural and legal issues – Policy AW5(6) does require 
compliance with Technical Advice Note 15 Development & Flood Risk and this would 
have been the case when retail development was proposed and approved for this part 
of the site.

Policy AW6(16) does require the developer to demonstrate good water management, 
but it does not oblige them to do so before permission is granted. On this point 
Members are referred to the comments on drainage below.

With regard to Policy AW10(8) relating to flooding see below.

Policy AW5.2(c) and the impact on congestion – see below.

Policy AW6(7) relates to making landscaping an integral part of the development which 
in the context of a commercial development the revised proposals achieve – also see 
below.

Policy AW6(14) aims to protect and enhance landscape and biodiversity and these 
issues are addressed below. Similarly concerns expressed in respect of policy AW8(2) 
are noted but objectors have not identified specifically what their concerns are in this 
regard and these issues are again addressed below 

Compliance with conditions of the original planning permission 51/87/0244 is 
questioned. This is misplaced as the granting of application 98/4284 effectively makes 
that the outline planning permission the balance of the development of the site has to 
respond to.

The approval of the non-material amendment defining the approved plans supersedes 
previous approvals. In any event this is something of a moot point as details of the 

Page 83



proposed means of access will have to be updated and referenced should Members 
choose to support the current proposals.

Highways and transportation issues – The application is not accompanied by any 
kind of transport assessment or statement but it does not need to be. Members should 
note that the Transportation section has not requested one and have raised no 
objections to the current proposals. Furthermore, the objector has failed to recognise 
the reduced nature of the development now proposed reflected in the overall reduction 
in approved floorspace that the new proposals would involve (circa 1280 square 
metres gross less) or the fact that a food store will drive up the number of linked trips.

The accusation that the proposals will increase congestion on the A4059 is not 
supported with any evidence and reflects an existing problem that there is no evidence 
the current proposals will make any worse particularly when the fall back of an extant 
consent that could still be implemented is taken into account.

The behaviour of a small minority of motorists on the Asda roundabout is not a 
sustainable reason to resist the current proposals and neither is the behaviour of 
delivery lorries serving the Asda store nor the illegal parking of motorists on the access 
road.

The presence of the play area and the parking around it is of little consequence to the 
current proposals as the foodstore would be accessed from a roundabout further south 

Amenity issues – In comparison to the original approved details for the site that could 
still be implemented there is no loss of landscaping, in fact there is a slight 
improvement with thicker planting bunds to the fringes of the site. Furthermore, whilst 
the objectors don’t indicate what aspects of the landscape they consider important or 
worthy of protection historically this part of the valley floor has been considered of low 
landscape value which is probably a result of the fact that historically it was a tipping 
site

Physical and social infrastructure issues – On the issue of drainage, Members 
should note that because of the age of the initial permissions the obligation to pursue 
a SUDS approach to drainage does not apply and the principles that apply to flooding 
(including the flood relief channel) and indeed any flood consequences assessment 
issues, would have been dealt with previously and the applicants have every right to 
rely on their findings.

Ecology – the site has a long history of consent for retail development that dates back 
some 30+ years and what objectors describe as scrubland has no recognised 
ecological value and the owner has every right to undertake clearance and 
maintenance as they see fit. This could have been undertaken in any event as a 
consequence of the extant planning permission. As such the fact they have done so 
cannot be held against the current proposals. The requirements of the Environment 
Wales Act 2016 are reflected in Planning Policy Wales 11 as is the obligation to 

Page 84



maintain and enhance biodiversity as introduced through the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations Act but it cannot be applied retrospectively.

Other issues - The developer has acknowledged an initial error in that the site does 
not lie adjacent to the River Cynon but the flood relief channel. 

The objector is unclear as to the watercourse within the site referred to in the objection. 
The initial intention of creating the flood relief channel amongst other things was to 
allow the replacement of the Cwmbach ditch which previously crossed the site. In any 
event the development of the site will need to develop a drainage system that is 
acceptable to Flood Risk Management.

It is well established that for the purposes of TAN 15 Development and Flood Risk the 
site falls within zone C2. However, Members should keep in mind that for the purposes 
of TAN15 retail development is considered a less vulnerable form of development and 
that in this case under previous approvals the raising of the site levels to the 
satisfaction of Natural Resources Wales and their predecessors has been previously 
agreed, and as part of that the applicants or their predecessor would have 
demonstrated that there would be no adverse impact on flood storage or adverse 
consequences elsewhere. 

To suggest there is no evidence on file that the proposed development would not 
adversely affect the surrounding area, ignores the fact that these issues would have 
been fully addressed in the course of the initial approval for retail development on this 
site.

The service road already has the benefit of planning permission to run behind the 
houses to the immediate north of the site and has already been partially implemented. 
In this case it is worth noting that the proposed arrangement has the effect of 
potentially reducing its impact as the food store if allowed would service from its own 
car park rather than via the service road. In any event the arrangement has already 
been deemed acceptable in amenity terms in the earlier grant of reserved matters 
approval.

A number of residents have made reference to various other bodies of legislation, 
claiming that allowing the proposals would be contrary to their requirements. The 
legislation and documents cited are as follows -

 The Human Rights Act 1998
 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
 The Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

.

Page 85



The planning system by its very nature respects all legislation that influences it and 
the rights of the individual whilst acting in the interest of the wider community. It is an 
intrinsic part of the decision-making process for the Council to assess the effects that 
a proposal will have on individuals, and weigh these against the wider public interest 
in determining whether a development should be allowed to proceed. In carrying out 
this balancing exercise the Council will of course wish to be satisfied that it has acted 
proportionately. In the present case, as detailed in this report, officers have considered 
and balanced those material considerations relevant to the application in making the 
recommendation to Committee.

How the management and maintenance of the flood relief channel happens or who 
contributes to it has no bearing on the acceptability or otherwise of the current 
proposals in planning terms.

The impact of the proposed development on house prices is not a material planning 
consideration and cannot influence the decision to be made in respect of this 
application.

Whilst home owners on the estate might desire a separate access and as something 
of itself it might be regarded as an improvement its presence or absence cannot 
influence a decision in this submission.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Liability

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was introduced in Rhondda Cynon Taf from 
31 December 2014.

The application is for development of a kind that is CIL liable under the CIL Regulations 
2010 (as amended).in this instance, due to the nature of the application being a 
Section 73 application and the proposals involving the creation of less floor space than 
was previously approved, under Regulation 128A the CIL charge is nil, £0.

Conclusion

The application is considered to comply with the relevant policies of the Local 
Development Plan in respect of the variation of conditions sought. The differences 
between the previously approved layout and that currently proposed with the variation 
of conditions though substantial remain acceptable. The proposed food store is a 
typical Lidl custom build and the balance of retail units meet all previously stated 
conditional requirements and in terms of appearance and finishes are the same. 

RECOMMENDATION: Grant

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
five years from the date of this permission.

Page 86



Reason:  To comply with Sections 91 and 93 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans/drawings/documents -- 

- P101 Rev B proposed floor plan
- P102 Rev B proposed floor plan areas
 - P103 proposed roof plan 
- P201 Rev B phase 1 & 2 elevations
- P202 Rev B proposed elevations
- P400 Rev D proposed site plan
- P401 Rev D phase 1 & 2 
- P402 Rev B phases elevation plan
- P403 location plan
- LIAS design notes & luminaire schedule DWG00;
- proposed lighting layout DWG 01

unless otherwise to be approved and superseded by details required by any 
other condition attached to this consent

Reason In order to define the extent by the permission hereby granted and 
to ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved 

3. Save with the written consent of the Local Planning Authority, with the 
exception of the food store unit described in the approved plans, only the 
following goods shall be sold from any other retail units to be erected on the 
retail park subject of this consent: DIY and garden related goods, caravans, 
boats, tool hire, building goods and products, furniture and furnishings, 
electrical and gas goods and products, carpets, floor coverings, cars/cycles 
and their accessories, office goods and equipment, pets and pet supplies.  
Any application for consent under the terms of this condition shall be 
accompanied by evidence or justification (including retail impact assessment 
where necessary) demonstrating the effect on retail trading in Aberdare and 
Mountain Ash town centres.

Reason: To define the extent of the consent granted and to ensure that no 
adverse impact is generated on the vitality, attractiveness and viability on the 
nearby town centres of Mountain Ash and Aberdare.

4. All planting, seeding or turfing in the approved details of landscaping shall be 
carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the occupation 
of the building(s) or completion of the development, whichever is the sooner, 

Page 87



and any trees or plants which within a period of five years from the completion 
of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar 
size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent 
to any variation.

Reason:  To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in 
the interests of amenity in accordance with Policies AW5 and AW6 of the 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.

5. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town & Country Planning (General 
Permitted  Development) Order 1995 (as amended) (or any order revoking 
or re-enacting that order) no unit within the development hereby approved 
shall be provided with a mezzanine level to increase the net sales, storage 
or office area of the unit.

Reason: In order to protect the vitality, attractiveness and viability of nearby 
town centres.

6. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town & Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995, (or any order revoking  and re-
enacting that order) no extensions or alterations which increase gross 
floorspace shall be erected or carried out.

Reason: to restrict the usable floorspace  of the premises in accordance 
with policy CS1 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan

7. Building operations shall not be commenced until samples of the external 
finishes proposed to be used have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority and all materials used shall conform to the 
sample(s) so approved.

Reason:  To ensure that the external appearance of the proposed 
development will be in keeping with the character of the area and adjoining 
buildings in the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policies AW5 
and AW6 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.

8. The  application for approval of reserved matters  shall  include plans at the 
scale of 1:200 showing the existing contours of  the land  and any existing 
physical features (buildings,  structures, etc) and existing natural features 
(trees, hedges, streams,  etc) and  indicating which features are to be 
retained  together  with their relationship to the proposed development.

Reason : To safeguard the rights of control by the Local Planning Authority 
in respect of the reserved matters.

Page 88



9. No unit shall be occupied until the drainage works have been completed in 
accordance with the approved plans.

Reason:  To ensure adequate disposal of foul and surface water drainage in 
accordance with Policy AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development 
Plan

10. Before the development is brought into beneficial use the means of access 
together with the parking and turning facilities shall be laid out in 
accordance with the submitted Corun amended access plan Drawing no: 
20-00724 03 received 3rd January 2021 The approved details shall be 
implemented prior to the first occupation of the approved food store unit. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety

11. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no works whatsoever, other than site 
clearance, remediation and preparation works, shall commence on site until 
full engineering design and details of the new road layout, sept path 
analysis, footpath links, street signage, removal of existing signage, street 
lighting, surface water drainage and highway structures, including 
longitudinal and cross sections have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The highway works shall be fully 
implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to the first 
occupation of the food store hereby approved.

Reason: To ensure the adequacy of the proposed development in the 
interests of highway safety.

12. Prior to the substantive completion of the food store herby approved a 
delivery management plan for the servicing of the proposed store has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved details shall remain in in operation thereafter. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety to ensure the adequacy of the 
proposed access and circulation.

13. The vehicular access to the site shall be laid out constructed and retained 
thereafter with 2.4m x 40m vision splays.

Reason: To ensure that adequate visibility is provided in the interests of 
highway safety.

14. Surface water run off form the proposed development shall not discharge 
on to the public highway or be connected to any highway drainage system 
unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 89



Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to prevent over capacity of 
the existing highway drainage system and potential flooding.

15. No development shall take place, including any works of site clearance, 
until a construction method statement has been submitted to and approve 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority  to provide for - 

a) the means of access into the site for all construction traffic.
b) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
c) the management of vehicular and pedestrian traffic.
d) loading and unloading of plant and materials.
e) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development.
f) wheel cleansing facilities,
g) the sheeting of lorries leaving the site.

The approved construction method statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the development process unless agreed otherwise in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: in the interests of safety and the free flow of traffic.

16. The gross retail floor space for the scale of electrical goods in phase 2 of 
the revised layout  shall not exceed 1673 square metres (18000 sq. ft.) and 
for furniture and carpets shall not exceed5576 square metres (60000 sq. 
ft.).

Reason: Any further change to a more comprehensive form of retailing  
would result in a larger unacceptable  volume of trade  being drawn away 
from the town centres of Aberdare and Mountain Ash.

17. Save with the consent of the Local Planning Authority, the size of any 
individual retail unit shall not be less than 929 square metres (gross). Any 
application for consent under the terms of this condition shall be 
accompanied by evidence or justification (including retail impact 
assessment where necessary) demonstrating that the effect on retailing in 
Aberdare and Mountain Ash town centres respectively.

Reason: Any further change to more comprehensive form of retailing would 
result in a larger and unacceptable volume of trade being drawn away  from 
the town centres of Aberdare and Mountain Ash.

18. The threshold levels of all new proposed buildings shall be set a minimum 
of 600mm above the Q100 level for the site as agreed with Natural 
Resources Wales.

Page 90



Reason: The site is liable to flooding during extreme weather conditions and 
to ensure  that the risk and consequences of flooding have been fully taken 
into account.

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

29 APRIL 2021

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR PROSPERITY AND DEVELOPMENT

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

Members are asked to determine the planning application outlined below:

APPLICATION NO: 21/0258/10             (LJH)
APPLICANT: S Morgans
DEVELOPMENT: Proposed first floor rear extension.
LOCATION: 62 ALBANY STREET, FERNDALE, CF43 4SL
DATE REGISTERED: 18/03/2021
ELECTORAL DIVISION: Ferndale

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS

REASONS: The development is considered to be acceptable in respect of its 
visual impact and the impact it has upon the amenity and privacy of the 
neighbouring residential properties. 
___________________________________________________________________

REASON APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE

 The applicant is a serving Local Member.

APPLICATION DETAILS

Full planning permission is sought to construct a second storey extension to the north-
east facing rear elevation of no. 62 Albany Street, Ferndale. The proposed extension 
would be sited above an existing single storey projection and would measure 4.6 
metres in width by 4.1 metres in depth. It would have a pitched roof design measuring 
a maximum of 7 metres in height from ground level with the eaves being reduced to 6 
metres. The extension would accommodate a bedroom and all external materials 
proposed would match that of the main property. 

SITE APPRAISAL

The application property is a mid-terraced, two-storey dwelling located within a 
residential area of Ferndale. The dwelling is set within an almost rectangular shaped 
plot and fronts the highway at Albany Street. An enclosed garden is located to the rear 
of the property to a depth of approximately 5 metres.

Page 93

Agenda Item 9



The property adjoins no. 61 Albany Street to the south-east and no. 63 to the north-
west. An un-adopted rear lane adjoins the rear boundary to the north-east. The lane 
terminates at the rear of no. 64 and a recreation ground lies beyond. 

There are numerous examples of two-storey extensions of various design and scale 
to the rear of properties along Albany Street.

PLANNING HISTORY

No relevant planning history at the site. 

PUBLICITY

The application has been advertised by means of direct neighbour notification.  No 
letters of objection or representation have been received as a result of this exercise. 

CONSULTATION

None undertaken.

POLICY CONTEXT

Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan

The application site lies within the settlement boundary for Ferndale and is 
unallocated.

Policy AW5 - sets out criteria for new development in relation to amenity and 
accessibility.
Policy AW6 - requires development to involve a high-quality design and to make a 
positive contribution to place making, including landscaping.

Supplementary Planning Guidance:

Design and Placemaking
A Design Guide for Householder Development

Planning Policy Wales 

In the determination of planning applications regard should also be given to the 
requirements of national planning policy which are not duplicated in the Local 
Development Plan, particularly where national planning policy provides a more up to 
date and comprehensive policy on certain topics. 

Planning Policy Wales Edition 11 (PPW) was issued on 24th February 2021 in 
conjunction with Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 (FW2040). PPW incorporates 
the objectives of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act into town and 
country planning and sets out Welsh Government’s (WG) policy on planning issues 
relevant to the determination of all planning applications. FW2040 sets out the National 

Page 94



Development Framework for Wales (NDF), WGs current position on planning policy at 
regional and national level. 

It is considered that the proposed development is consistent with the key principles 
and requirements for placemaking set out in PPW; and is also consistent with the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act’s sustainable development principles through 
its contribution towards the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives of driving 
sustainable development and building healthier communities and better environments. 

It is also considered the proposed development is compliant with the NDF, with the 
following policies being relevant to the development proposed: 

 Policy 2 – Shaping Urban Growth – Sustainability/Placemaking
 Policy 3 – Supporting Urban Growth – Council and 

/Placemaking/developers/regeneration/sustainable communities’/exemplar 
developments.

Other relevant policy guidance consulted:

PPW Technical Advice Note 12: Design

REASONS FOR REACHING THE RECOMMENDATION

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if 
regard is to be had to the development plan for the purposes of any determination to 
be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with 
the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Furthermore, applications that are not in accordance with relevant policies in the plan 
should not be allowed, unless material considerations justify the grant of planning 
permission. 

Main Issues:

Principle of the proposed development

The application relates to the extension of an existing residential dwelling in order to 
improve current living standards. The principle of development is therefore considered 
acceptable subject to the criteria set out below.

Impact on the character and appearance of the area

The proposed extension is considered to be acceptable in terms of its scale, design 
and overall visual appearance. The extension would be sited on the rear elevation of 
the property with the roof being set 1 metre below the height of the original roof. As 
such, the proposal is considered to be a sympathetic and subservient addition to the 
property. Furthermore, all external materials proposed would match that the existing 
property and there are a number of similar extensions visible within the vicinity. 

The proposed works are subsequently considered to be acceptable in terms of the 
impact they would have on the character and appearance of the main property and 
the wider area, complying with Policies AW5 and AW6 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Local Development Plan. 

Page 95



Impact on residential amenity and privacy

It is not considered the proposed development would have a significant impact upon 
the amenity and privacy standards currently enjoyed by the occupiers of the 
neighbouring properties.

The extension would be sited to the north-eastern facing rear elevation of the host 
property, directly adjacent to a similar two-storey extension at no. 63. As such it is not 
considered the addition would result in any overshadowing of or overbearing impact 
to no. 63. 

Furthermore, sited to the north of no. 61, the proposed extension would not result in 
any overshadowing of this property; and whilst it is accepted a degree of overbearing 
impact would occur, at only 4.1m in depth and with many similar two-storey extensions 
in the locality, it is considered this type of relationship is typical of the area and that 
any potential impact would not be significant enough to warrant refusal of the 
application.

With respect to privacy, there are no windows proposed within either side elevation 
and the Juliet balcony proposed on the rear north-east facing elevation would not 
result in any further overlooking of the adjoining properties in comparison to that which 
already occurs from existing first floor windows. 

It is also noted that no letters of objection have been received from occupiers of 
surrounding properties following the consultation process.

The application is therefore considered acceptable in this regard.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Liability

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was introduced in Rhondda Cynon Taf from 
31 December 2014.

The application is for development of a kind that is not CIL liable under the CIL 
regulations 2010 (as amended).

Conclusion

It is not considered the proposal would have a significant impact on the character and 
appearance of the locality or upon the residential amenity of the surrounding 
neighbouring properties. As such, the application is considered to comply with the 
relevant policies of the Local Development Plan (Policies AW5 and AW6).

RECOMMENDATION: Grant

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
five years from the date of this permission.

Page 96



Reason:  To comply with Sections 91 and 93 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved plan(s) no(s):

 Proposed first floor plan, proposed rear elevation, proposed side 
elevation, Proposed side elevation – received 22/02/2021 

and documents received by the Local Planning Authority, unless otherwise 
to be approved and superseded by details required by any other condition 
attached to this consent.

Reason:  To ensure compliance with the approved plans and documents 
and to clearly define the scope of the permission.

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

29 APRIL2021

INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS, PERTAINING TO ACTION TAKEN

UNDER DELEGATED POWERS

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR PROSPERITY AND DEVELOPMENT  

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

To inform Members of the following, for the period 05/04/2021 – 
16/04//2021

Planning Appeals Decisions Received.
Delegated Decisions Approvals and Refusals with reasons.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That Members note the information.

Page 99

Agenda Item 10



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

as amended by

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

29 APRIL 2021

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR PROSPERITY AND DEVELOPMENT  

REPORT OFFICER TO CONTACT

INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS,                      Mr. J. Bailey
PERTAINING TO ACTION TAKEN                    (Tel: 01443 281132)
UNDER DELEGATED POWERS

See Relevant Application File

Page 100



APPEALS RECEIVED 

APPLICATION NO: 21/0102
APPEAL REF: D/21/3272736
APPLICANT: Mrs S Morrissey
DEVELOPMENT: Raised decking area (Retrospective). 
LOCATION: 6 PERGWM STREET, TREALAW, TONYPANDY, CF40 

2UP
APPEAL RECEIVED: 08/04/2021
APPEAL START 
DATE:

13/04/2021

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

05/04/2021 and 16/04/2021
Development Control : Delegated Decisions (Permissions) between:

Report for Development Control Planning Committee

Aberdare West/Llwydcoed

21/0300/30 13/04/2021

Proposal:
Erection of a polytunnel.

Location: BWLLFA FARM, BWLLFA ROAD, CWMDARE, ABERDARE, CF44 8UL

Decision Date:

21/0331/10 14/04/2021

Proposal:
Detached garage to rear.

Location: 13 BRONIESTYN TERRACE, TRECYNON, ABERDARE, CF44 8EG

Decision Date:

Aberdare East

20/0789/13 08/04/2021

Proposal:
Outline application for a residential dwelling with all matters reserved.

Location: CARTREF, MOSS PLACE, ABER-NANT, ABERDARE, CF44 0YU

Decision Date:

Mountain Ash East

21/0188/10 14/04/2021

Proposal:
First floor extension to side, double storey extension to rear (amended plan received 08/03/2021).

Location: 17 LON-Y-FELIN, CEFNPENNAR, MOUNTAIN ASH, CF45 4ES

Decision Date:

Aberaman South

20/1242/10 06/04/2021

Proposal:
Single storey rear extension.

Location: 48 GLYNHAFOD STREET, CWMAMAN, ABERDARE, CF44 6LD

Decision Date:

Page 103



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

05/04/2021 and 16/04/2021
Development Control : Delegated Decisions (Permissions) between:

Report for Development Control Planning Committee

Treherbert

21/0187/10 07/04/2021

Proposal:
Single storey side extension for provision of disabled WC.

Location: OLD AGE PENSIONER HALL, GWENDOLINE STREET, TYNEWYDD, TREHERBERT

Decision Date:

Treorchy

21/0178/10 06/04/2021

Proposal:
Proposed single storey extension.

Location: 45 DYFODWG STREET, TREORCHY, CF42 6NL

Decision Date:

21/0246/10 14/04/2021

Proposal:
Single storey rear extension.

Location: 30 REGENT STREET, TREORCHY, CF42 6PP

Decision Date:

Ystrad

21/0089/10 12/04/2021

Proposal:
Two-storey rear extension (as amended 17/03/2021)

Location: 6 SMITH STREET, GELLI, PENTRE, CF41 7NG

Decision Date:

21/0271/10 16/04/2021

Proposal:
Retrospective permission for access to rear of property.

Location: 8 OAKLANDS DRIVE, YSTRAD, PENTRE, CF41 7QW

Decision Date:

Llwynypia

21/0143/10 07/04/2021

Proposal:
Detached double garage.

Location: LAND WEST OF HOLYROOD TERRACE, LLWYNYPIA, TONYPANDY

Decision Date:

Cwm Clydach

21/0361/10 07/04/2021

Proposal:
Camera gantry over north spectator stand

Location: CAMBRIAN AND CLYDACH VALE FOOTBALL GROUND, TONYPANDY. CF40 2XX

Decision Date:

Page 104



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

05/04/2021 and 16/04/2021
Development Control : Delegated Decisions (Permissions) between:

Report for Development Control Planning Committee

Tonypandy

21/0268/10 15/04/2021

Proposal:
Proposed rear balcony.

Location: 30 CHARLES STREET, TONYPANDY, CF40 2AN

Decision Date:

Penygraig

21/0170/10 09/04/2021

Proposal:
Two-storey rear extension.

Location: 137 TYLACELYN ROAD, PENYGRAIG, TONYPANDY, CF40 1JR

Decision Date:

Porth

21/0165/10 14/04/2021

Proposal:
Two storey rear extension.

Location: 13 BIRCHGROVE STREET, PORTH, CF39 9YA

Decision Date:

Cymmer

21/0042/10 12/04/2021

Proposal:
Two-storey rear extension.

Location: 2 WYNDHAM STREET, GLYNFACH, PORTH, CF39 9HT

Decision Date:

Tylorstown

21/0245/15 14/04/2021

Proposal:
Extend condition 1 period by a further 5 years. (16/0070/10)

Location: LAND EAST OF EAST STREET, TYLORSTOWN, FERNDALE, CF43 3HR

Decision Date:

21/0248/15 14/04/2021

Proposal:
Extension of condition 1 - 5 year time limit (prev app 16/0061/10).

Location: LAND EAST OF EAST STREET TYLORSTOWN, FERNDALE, CF43 3HR

Decision Date:

Town (Pontypridd)

21/0237/10 15/04/2021

Proposal:
Extend balcony and support on face brick work pillars at lower level, surround with clear and obscure glazing 
at upper level.

Location: 52 HILLSIDE VIEW, PONTYPRIDD, CF37 2LG

Decision Date:

Page 105



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

05/04/2021 and 16/04/2021
Development Control : Delegated Decisions (Permissions) between:

Report for Development Control Planning Committee

Trallwn

21/0281/10 16/04/2021

Proposal:
Construction of a two storey workshop and stores to replace a double garage in the grounds of Blodwen 
House (retrospective) (re-submission).

Location: GROUNDS OF BLODWEN HOUSE, CORNSTORES HILL, PONTYPRIDD, CF37 4LD

Decision Date:

Rhondda

20/1387/10 14/04/2021

Proposal:
Removal of existing steps to garden level and erection of a steel balcony with steps to garden level.

Location: HILLSIDE VIEW, DANYLAN ROAD, MAESYCOED, PONTYPRIDD, CF37 1ES

Decision Date:

Treforest

21/0196/10 07/04/2021

Proposal:
First floor rear extension.

Location: 9 CEMETERY ROAD, GLYNTAFF, PONTYPRIDD, CF37 4BD

Decision Date:

Llantwit Fardre

20/1322/10 06/04/2021

Proposal:
Removal of existing conservatory and replacement with single storey extension to rear of property.

Location: 10 LLYS LLEWELYN, LLANTWIT FARDRE, PONTYPRIDD, CF38 2HQ

Decision Date:

21/0145/08 14/04/2021

Proposal:
Advertising signage on roundabout exits.

Location: ROUNDABOUT, HEOL DOWLAIS A473 CHURCH VILLAGE BYPASS

Decision Date:

21/0215/10 12/04/2021

Proposal:
Single storey rear extension.

Location: 53 QUEEN'S DRIVE, LLANTWIT FARDRE, PONTYPRIDD, CF38 2NT

Decision Date:

Church Village

20/1018/10 06/04/2021

Proposal:
Retrospective permission for boundary fencing and creation of garden levels with associated works.

Location: 34 TY CRWYN, CHURCH VILLAGE, PONTYPRIDD, CF38 2HX

Decision Date:

21/0247/09 15/04/2021

Proposal:
Single storey rear extension.

Location: 30 ACORN GROVE, CHURCH VILLAGE, PONTYPRIDD, CF38 2AJ

Decision Date:

Page 106



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

05/04/2021 and 16/04/2021
Development Control : Delegated Decisions (Permissions) between:

Report for Development Control Planning Committee

Tonyrefail West

21/0212/10 13/04/2021

Proposal:
Single storey rear extension.

Location: 11 NANT EIRIN, TONYREFAIL, PORTH, CF39 8DW

Decision Date:

Tonyrefail East

21/0152/10 06/04/2021

Proposal:
Proposed two storey rear extension and loft conversion with flat roof.

Location: 12 GLADYS STREET, COEDELY, TONYREFAIL, PORTH, CF39 8BN

Decision Date:

21/0159/10 15/04/2021

Proposal:
First floor extension and roof enlargement.

Location: 5 HIGHLANDS, TONYREFAIL, PORTH, CF39 8YG

Decision Date:

Beddau

21/0203/10 12/04/2021

Proposal:
Ground floor rear extension.

Location: 111 BRYNTEG GREEN, BEDDAU, PONTYPRIDD, CF38 2QA

Decision Date:

Ty'n y Nant

21/0233/10 15/04/2021

Proposal:
Single storey porch and side wrap around extension and single storey rear extension.

Location: 1 CLAVERTON CLOSE, BEDDAU, PONTYPRIDD, CF38 2SB

Decision Date:

Page 107



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

05/04/2021 and 16/04/2021
Development Control : Delegated Decisions (Permissions) between:

Report for Development Control Planning Committee

Town (Llantrisant)

20/1025/10 13/04/2021

Proposal:
Side extension below existing gantry (Amended documents received 29/01/2021).

Location: UNIT D AND C PUROLITE INTERNATIONAL LTD, LLANTRISANT BUSINESS PARK, LLANTRISANT, 
PONTYCLUN, CF72 8LF

Decision Date:

21/0182/10 06/04/2021

Proposal:
Single storey rear extension & first floor side extension.

Location: 8 GREENLANDS ROAD, LLANTRISANT, PONTYCLUN, CF72 8QD

Decision Date:

21/0191/10 07/04/2021

Proposal:
Detached garage with storage below.

Location: TY FRY, HIGH STREET, LLANTRISANT, PONTYCLUN, CF72 8BP

Decision Date:

21/0194/10 15/04/2021

Proposal:
Single storey rear extension with balcony over.

Location: TY MAES YR HAF, 46A DESPENSER AVENUE, LLANTRISANT, PONTYCLUN, CF72 8QA

Decision Date:

Pontyclun

21/0059/10 09/04/2021

Proposal:
Rear and 1st-floor extension to garage.

Location: 16 PEN HENDY, MISKIN, PONT-Y-CLUN, PONTYCLUN, CF72 8QW

Decision Date:

21/0239/10 13/04/2021

Proposal:
Change of use from A1 to A2 on first floor. (Retrospective)

Location:  7 LLANTRISANT ROAD, PONTYCLUN, CF72 9DP

Decision Date:

Llanharry

21/0198/10 12/04/2021

Proposal:
Rear extensions & front porch including demolition of existing front porch (Amended plans received 
21/03/2021).

Location: 33 TYLACOCH, LLANHARRY, PONTYCLUN, CF72 9LR

Decision Date:

21/0221/10 12/04/2021

Proposal:
Proposed two storey side and rear extension, single rear extension and raised balcony to rear.

Location: 54 BRYN CELYN, LLANHARRY, PONTYCLUN, CF72 9ZE

Decision Date:

21/0371/10 15/04/2021

Proposal:
Erection of memorial wall.

Location: LLANHARRY CEMETERY, LLANHARRY, CF72 9JR

Decision Date:

Page 108



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

05/04/2021 and 16/04/2021
Development Control : Delegated Decisions (Permissions) between:

Report for Development Control Planning Committee

Llanharan

21/0192/10 07/04/2021

Proposal:
Garden store, garage and office.

Location: 1 YNYSMAERDY TERRACE, YNYSMAERDY, LLANTRISANT, PONTYCLUN, CF72 8LG

Decision Date:

21/0209/10 09/04/2021

Proposal:
Garden fencing.

Location: 24 RHODFA BRYN RHYDD, TALBOT GREEN, PONTYCLUN, CF72 9FD

Decision Date:

21/0228/10 09/04/2021

Proposal:
Construction of a summerhouse within the rear garden, construction of a veranda on the side of the existing 
house forming a porch to the front door and construction of 2 dormer windows to the front elevation to replace 

Location: 16 OAKMEAD ROAD, LLANHARAN, PONTYCLUN, CF72 9FB

Decision Date:

21/0251/10 15/04/2021

Proposal:
Two storey and part single storey extension to rear.

Location: 3 RHODFA CARPINUS, TALBOT GREEN, PONTYCLUN, CF72 9XA

Decision Date:

Total Number of Delegated decisions is  45

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

05/04/2021 and 16/04/2021Development Control : Delegated Decisions - Refusals between:

Report for Development Control Planning Committee

Ffynon Taf

21/0095/10 06/04/2021

Proposal: Change of use of former Dental Laboratory (Use Class B1) to Residential (Use Class C3).

Location: THE  OLD HOUSE, REAR OF 55 CARDIFF ROAD, TAFF'S WELL, CARDIFF, CF15 7RD

Decision Date:

Reason: The means of access to the proposed development is sub-standard in terms of horizontal geometry, 
carriageway width, junction radii, vision splays, forward visibility, segregated footway, street lighting, 
drainage and structural integrity. Intensification of its use would create increased traffic hazards to the 
detriment of highway and pedestrian safety and free flow of traffic, contrary to Policy AW 5 of the Rhondda 
Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.

 1

Reason: The proposed development would generate additional on-street parking demand to the detriment of safety 
of all highway users and free flow of traffic, contrary to Policy AW 5 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local 
Development Plan.

 2

Town (Llantrisant)

21/0252/13 15/04/2021

Proposal: Conversion and extension of outbuilding to form dwelling (Outline).

Location: LAND TO THE REAR OF TY GWYN, 30 CARDIFF ROAD, LLANTRISANT CF72 8DH

Decision Date:

Reason: The private shared access serving the proposed development is sub-standard in terms of vision splays, 
width to allow satisfactory 2-way traffic flow and provision of an adequate turning area to allow vehicles to 
enter and exit the site in a forward gear. Further, intensification of use of this access will be to the detriment 
of safety for all highway users.

In the absence of a Bat Survey, insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that the impact 
upon bats, which are a European Protected Species, can be adequately managed. 

As such the proposal conflicts with Policy AW5 and AW8 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development 
Plan.

 1

Total Number of Delegated decisions is  2

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES
	Minutes 11.03.21

	5 APPLICATION NO: 19/1081
	6 APPLICATION NO: 20/1342
	7 APPLICATION NO: 20/1345
	8 APPLICATION NO: 20/1346
	9 APPLICATION NO: 21/0258
	10 INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS, PERTAINING TO ACTION TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3


